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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
BRBERZMERLF (B GEMHEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Vision
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
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subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we” or “our”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any

statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
am pleased to present the annual report of Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Throughout the year of fierce competition and challenging market
environment in 2021, the Group’s total revenue increased to
HK$125.7 million, showing an increase of approximately 35.4% as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2020. Meanwhile, the
Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$8.7
million, as compared to the Group’s profit of HK$2.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease in profitability was
mainly attributable to the combined effect of (i) the increase in the net
change in allowance for expected credit losses in respect of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2021, and (i) the decrease in gross
profit margin of the apparel and related products business due to the
pessimistic sentiment on the global retail markets.

The global markets and economies are still struggling to recover in
the midst of COVID-19 pandemic. The new wave of Omicron variant
of COVID-19 weighs on the business sentiment. We expect the
pessimistic sentiment is still hovering on, until more solid signs of
progress that the pandemic situation is to be brought under control.

The Group’s profitability has been severely affected by COVID-19.
The travel restriction caused by COVID-19 has hindered our overseas
customers from visiting us or us from visiting them for making sales
orders. We expect the forthcoming business environment would
remain challenging, as a number of customers are looking for longer
credit period. Moreover, in view of the weakening retail markets,
customers would tend to make orders with lower average selling
prices, which led to a tumble in our gross profit margin of the apparel
and related products business.

To cope with the lingering business downturn, our management has
already taken cost-control measures since 2020 to reduce our
operating costs. Going forward, the Group will continue to keep a
close eye on the appropriate ways to apply such measures.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)

Moreover, in order to diversify the income stream of the Group, the
Group has started exploring new business opportunities in the
business of construction and related materials to ASEAN countries
since 2020. The Directors are of the view that, the expansion into the
construction and related materials business would bring more stable
revenue to the Group, as the sales of construction materials is less
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the US-China trade war.

Nevertheless, to confront the external uncertainties, we are closely
monitoring our existing business operations and the possible impacts
brought by the COVID-19 pandemic, and taking appropriate actions
to tackle such impacts. On production side, measures are taken to
make sure the impact on the production and shipment is mitigated as
much as possible, such as more comprehensive planning on
production schedules with suppliers and the logistics of raw materials
and finished goods. On customer side, our team is following up
proactively with our major customers via electronical means, in order
to minimize the impact on the sales orders at our best endeavours.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere gratitude to the Group’s management and staff for their
commitment and dedication throughout the year. | would also like to
express my deep gratitude to all our business partners, customers,
suppliers and the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
for their continuous support. The growth of the Group would not be
attained without the support and efforts from all the stakeholders. We
shall continue to strive our best to develop and grow to maximise
values for our Shareholders.

Ko Sin Yun
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Group is based in Hong Kong and generates revenue mainly
from (i) the sales of apparel products with the provision of SCM
services to customers, delivering one-stop solution to customers in
Europe and Asia; and (ii) the agency fees from the sales of
construction and related materials to sourcing agents in South East
Asia.

As a well-established apparel SCM services provider, we have
developed a vertically integrated business model with services
ranging across market trend analysis, product design and
development, sourcing of suppliers, production management,
logistics services and quality control. Through engaging us for apparel
SCM services, our customers are able to focus their resources on
their retail businesses and respond quickly to the fast-evolving
changes of the fashion industry, as they do not have to separately
engage different suppliers for various types of services throughout the
apparel supply chain.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$125.7 million, showing an increase of
approximately 35.4% as compared to revenue of approximately
HK$92.8 million for the same period in 2020. The gross profit margin
of the Group decreased to 8.2% for the year ended 31 December
2021 as compared to 17.2% from the preceding year.

The loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year ended 31
December 2021 was HK$8.7 million, as compared to the profit and
total comprehensive income of HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. This change in the Group’s profitability was mainly
attributable to the combined effect of (i) the increase in the net change
in allowance for expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables
as at 31 December 2021, and (i) the decrease in gross profit margin
of the apparel and related products business due to the pessimistic
sentiment on the global retail markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The Group’s business objective is to become a key market player in
the Hong Kong apparel SCM industry. The proceeds raised from the
listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on 4 May 2018
(the “Listing Date”) is targeted to be used for expanding our
business to maintain and strengthen our market position by pursuing
our business strategies. An analysis comparing the business
objectives as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 23
April 2018 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group’s actual business
progress for the period from the Listing Date up to 31 December
2021 is set out below:

EBEREERRBEENLER

AEENEBEZEDIR AT BREHREREERT
¥MEBMHELEE - R2018F5 448 ([ LT
AH D) EHZAGEM Em ([ LT ) Fri8 kB E
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B MIEEN - A AFAHA20184 4 A23
HOORERER((BRER]) MEEG A ZEERE
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Actual business progress for the period from the

Business objectives

EBER

Listing Date to 31 December 2021
BEmHHEZ2021F12 31 HHABNEREKEE

Continue our growth by solidifying our relationship with
existing customers and exploring new customers

FREFEBRMEREEPOBEERRRAENSPLTE
PR

Increase our geographic footprint to
new apparel retail market

Our staff paid visits to our existing and new customers.

BTHRDHRMEAE RFHEP -

Our staff explored and paid visits to a number of potential
new customers located in Europe and Asia. The Group

has successfully commenced business relationship with

a number of them.

ENRMNEBEEREENRETEMS

Set up a new showroom to showcase our
product offerings
FUFRINEUNRTEMNERES

Strengthen our design and development capabilities
to develop new design collection

e IR RRAT K R 3 BE 1) AR BT AR AT R D
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BT ERRMRTD ZRAREBM RN EERES -
AEBCKINEER S EZHEFRREBRHRE -

The Group has acquired a new showroom on 10
September 2018 to showcase its product offerings.

REMMN 20184 9 B 10 HURBEFTBR Y| E AR R
BMWERES -

The Group has prepared a wider variety of sample
products for our design collections in the
new showroom.
REEEEFRINZERKMORAESLERE ZBEDN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (Continued)

EBRERREREBEENLEE @

Actual business progress for the period from the

Business objectives

REBER

Listing Date to 31 December 2021
BLETmAMEZ2021 F12A31 BEHBNEREKEE

Enhance our quality control process

Our quality control team performed on-site quality

inspections at the location of our suppliers.

RARMNEEZ)BE

Repay bank borrowings

HEZVEERNHERMEHETERE SRR -

HK$5.2 million of bank borrowing has been repaid, as set

out in the section headed “statement of Business

Objective and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by 35.4% from HK$92.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$125.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly attributable to
the increased revenue from (i) the customers in Hong Kong and
Macau for apparel and related products, and (i) agency fees income
of the customers in Cambodia for construction and related materials.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales mainly consists of purchase costs, import duty and
other cost of sales. Purchase cost represents the cost of finished
goods purchased from suppliers located in the People’s Republic of
China, Madagascar and Cambodia. The cost of sales increased by
50.2% from HK$76.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to HK$115.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, which
was in line with the increase in revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit was HK$16.0 million and HK$10.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively. The gross profit
margin decreased from 17.2% for the year ended 31 December 2020
to 8.2% for the year ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly
attributable to the decrease in gross profit margin of the apparel and
related products business due to the pessimistic sentiment on the
global retail markets, which made our customers tend to make orders
with lower average selling prices that led to a tumble in the gross
profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income

The other income amounted to HK$0.9 million and HK$0.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
derived from the government grant of the Employment Support
Scheme from the Hong Kong government in the year ended 31
December 2020, which was COVID-19 related subsidies and to a
lesser extent, sample sales income.

respectively, mainly

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses mainly include the net change in allowance for
expected credit losses for trade receivables, and the net foreign
exchange gain resulted from fluctuations in the exchange rate of the
foreign currency incurred in our operation, offset by bad debts written
off.

Other losses amounted to HK$8.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, as compared to the other gains of HK$0.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The change in other gains
and losses is mainly attributable to the increase in the net change in
allowance for expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses mainly include staff costs,
customer service fee, freight and transportation cost, travelling
expenses, design fee, sample and development cost and other selling
and distribution expenses.

The selling and distribution expenses amounted to HK$5.3 million
and HK$1.8 million for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021
respectively. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease
in exhibition fees for participating in trade fairs and travelling expenses
due to the global travelling restrictions as a result of the COVID-19
outbreak.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses mainly include professional fees, staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration), amortisation of intangible
assets, depreciation, rent and rates and other administrative
expenses.

The administrative expenses remained relatively stable at HK$8.6
million and HK$8.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2021, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs amounted to approximately HK$0.6 million
and HK$0.8 million for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2021, respectively.

Income tax expense

The Income tax expense mainly represents Hong Kong profits tax on
the assessable profits arising from Hong Kong and amounted to
HK$0.7 million and HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2021, respectively.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

(Loss) profit for the year

The loss attributable to owners of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was HK$8.7 million, while the Group recorded a
profit attributable to owners of the Group of HK$2.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in the net change in allowance for
expected credit losses, and (i) the decrease in gross profit as
explained above.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group pledged the property comprising
workshops 1-3 and 5-7 on 3rd Floor of China United Plaza, No.
1008 Tai Nan West Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong to a bank for the
bank finance facility for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Share capital

The Shares were successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date. The share capital of the Group only
comprises ordinary shares. Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
3 August 2020, the Company implemented the share consolidation
with effect from 5 August 2020 (the “Share Consolidation”), on the
basis that every ten issued and unissued existing shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each were consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.1 each, ranked pari passu in all respects with each
other. Upon completion of the Share Consolidation, the Company’s
share capital consists of 100,000,000 consolidated shares of HK$0.1
each and there has been no change in the capital structure of the
Group since then. As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s issued
share capital was HK$10,000,000 and the number of its issued
ordinary Shares was 100,000,000 of HK$0.1 each.

Major and Connected Transaction
There is no major and connected transaction during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Significant investment held
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities or
guarantees as at 31 December 2021.

Foreign exchange exposure

The revenue of the Group is mainly denominated in US$, while a
certain amount of the revenue is denominated in HK$ and EUR
(‘EUR").

The Group considers that the foreign exchange risk with respect to
US$ is not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$.

For the transaction denominated in EUR during the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group considers there is no significant foreign
exchange risks in respect of EUR.

Nevertheless, the Group will endeavour to manage the foreign
exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement of foreign currency
rates and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

PROSPECTS

The global markets and economies are still struggling to recover in
the midst of COVID-19 pandemic. The new wave of Omicron variant
of COVID-19 weighs on the business sentiment. We expect the
pessimistic sentiment is still hovering on, until more solid signs of
progress that the pandemic situation is to be brought under control.

The Group’s profitability has been severely affected by COVID-19.
The travel restriction caused by COVID-19 has hindered our overseas
customers from visiting us or us from visiting them for making sales
orders. We expect the forthcoming business environment would
remain challenging, as a number of customers are looking for longer
credit period. Moreover, in view of the weakening retail markets,
customers would tend to make orders with lower average selling
prices, which led to a tumble in our gross profit margin of the apparel
and related products business.

To cope with the lingering business downturn, our management has
already taken cost-control measures since 2020 to reduce our
operating costs. Going forward, the Group will continue to keep a
close eye on the appropriate ways to apply such measures.

Moreover, in order to diversify the income stream of the Group, the
Group has started exploring new business opportunities in the
business of construction and related materials to ASEAN countries
since 2020. The Directors are of the view that, the expansion into the
construction and related materials business would bring more stable
revenue to the Group, as the sales of construction materials is less
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the US-China trade war.

Nevertheless, to confront the external uncertainties, we are closely
monitoring our existing business operations and the possible impacts
brought by the COVID-19 pandemic, and taking appropriate actions
to tackle such impacts. On production side, measures are taken to
make sure the impact on the production and shipment is mitigated as
much as possible, such as more comprehensive planning on
production schedules with suppliers and the logistics of raw materials
and finished goods. On customer side, our team is following up
proactively with our major customers via electronical means, in order
to minimize the impact on the sales orders at our best endeavours.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing, after deducting the actual
underwriting commission and expenses paid by the Company in
connection thereto, were approximately HK$32.2 million (the Actual
Net Proceeds”). The Company intends to utilise the Actual Net
Proceeds according to the section headed “Statement of Business

Objectives and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus.

The table below sets out an adjusted allocation of the Actual Net
Proceeds, the actual usage of the Actual Net Proceeds and the

unutilised Actual Net Proceeds as at 31 December 2021.

FREFIEMAE

Adjusted
allocation of

V==

% EWATRMR

Actual usage
of the Actual

Net Proceeds
as at

=t

=FM

KNBRAARERF LN aEEe RAX
TEFRE4) 5 32,200,0008 T ([ B
BRATSRIEFE]) - ARRIERBHERER %
BEEBARMERERSR] —HBBERME
FIEFEE o

TREHNN2021F 12 A31 BN BB TS ZIEF
M EHEESE - BT
DABRAERSHRIEFAE -

HFENERAR

Unutilised
Actual Net
Proceeds as at

the Actual Net 31 December 31 December
Business strategies as set out in the Prospectus Proceeds 2021 2021
M2021 &
12831 HK R 2021 F
BB BEBRE 12831 8K
RIEFEN MIEFHEN REAER
BRERFTE LR REESE BRAR FIORERSE
(1) Continue our growth by solidifying our relationship with
existing customers and exploring new customers 1.8 1.8 -
FRERRMEBERTPOERMABN S PLTE
AR E S
2) Set up a new showroom to showcase
our product offerings 17.5 17.5 -
BRI ELNRREKMOERES
3 Strengthen our design and development capabilities
to develop new design collections 2.2 2.2 -
hNsRF AP ER AT R R 35 A 71 DA R R AR AT R 51
4) Enhance our quality control process 0.8 0.8 -
RAKRME 215 5B
5) Repay bank borrowings 5.2 52 -
BERITER
(6) Fund general working capital needs 4.7 4.7 -
BN—REEELHRE
Total 32.2 32.2 -
@t
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

On 13 August 2021, the Board resolved to change the use of the
unutilised Net Proceeds. The intended use of the unutilised Net
Proceeds was to be re-allocated from solidifying our relationship with
existing customers and exploring new customers to funding the
Group’s general working capital needs.

Up to 31 December 2021, the Net Proceeds has been fully utilised.

Reasons for and benefits of the change in use of
proceeds

The unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic is persistently weighing
heavily on the macroeconomic and the worldwide retail environment.
Due to the COVID-19 situation, certain governments have issued
entry restrictions and quarantine measures for travellers. The travel
restrictions have hindered our overseas customers from visiting us or
us from visiting them for making sales orders. Such restrictions have
also suspended various trade fairs and limited the number of the
audience of trade fairs. The actual usage of the Net Proceeds for
solidifying relationship with existing customers and exploring new
customers has been delayed by the global travel restrictions. The
selling and distribution expenses which mainly include staff costs,
customer service fee, freight and transportation cost, travelling
expenses, exhibition fees, design fee, sample and development cost
and other selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2021 have decreased significantly from HK$5.3
million to HK$1.8 million.

Up to 13 August 2021, there remains a significant degree of
uncertainty over the lifting of the existing global travel restrictions. The
Board considered that the unutilised Net Proceeds may not be
utilised efficiently in accordance with the original allocation for
solidifying our relationship with existing customers and exploring new
customers by visiting our overseas customers and participating in
trade fairs. After due and careful consideration of the current business
environment and development needs of the Group, the Board
considers that the use of the unutilised Net Proceeds should be
appropriately re-allocated to better cope with the current economic
environment and future challenges brought by the COVID-19
pandemic.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

Reasons for and benefits of the change in use of
proceeds (Continued)

The Board is of the view that the aforesaid change in the use of
unutilised Net Proceeds is in the best interest of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole and will not have any material adverse effect
on the existing business and operations of the Group. The Board will
continue to closely monitor our existing business operations and the
possible impacts brought by the COVID-19 pandemic, and take
appropriate actions to tackle such impacts.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes in the
use of the Net Proceeds.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s operations
were generally financed through an internally generated cash flows
and borrowings from banks. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
our current and expected liquidity requirements and our relationship
with banks to ensure the maintenance of sufficient reserves of cash
and funding to meet the liquidity requirements in both short and long
run.

As at 31 December 2021, the total equity of the Group was HK$48.9
million (31 December 2020: HK$57.5 million). The Group’s cash and
cash equivalent as at 31 December 2021 was HK$1.7 million (31
December 2020: HK$6.0 million). The Group’s bank borrowings as at
31 December 2021 was HK$40.0 million (31 December 2020:
HK$32.3 million). Our working capital represented by the net current
assets as at 31 December 2021 was HK$22.7 million (31 December
2020: HK$23.6 million). Our current ratio was 1.4 times as at 31
December 2021, decreased from 1.6 times as at 31 December 2020.
Such decrease in working capital and current ratio was mainly
attributable to the effect of the higher trade receivables balance being
outweighed by the higher trade payables and bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES (Continued)

Our trade receivables turnover days were 46.2 days and 132.4 days
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively. The
increase in trade receivables turnover days was mainly due to the
higher trade receivables balance as at 31 December 2021. Our trade
payables turnover days were 10.9 days and 29.3 days for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively, which were both
within the credit periods offered by our suppliers. The increase in
trade payables turnover days was mainly attributable to the higher
trade payables balances as at 31 December 2021.

Our gearing ratio (calculated based on bank borrowings divided by
total equity) was 82.0% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December
2020: 56.2%). Such increase was mainly attributable to the combined
effect of (i) the increase in the bank borrowings for trade finance
purpose during the year, and (i) the decrease in total equity mainly
due to the increase in the net change in allowance for expected credit
losses in respect of trade receivables.

Based on the above analysis, coupled with sufficient cash and bank
balances, our strong and sound financial position offers adequate
liquidity and financial resources to meet our working capital
requirements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on
note 6 of the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total number of
eight full-time employees and engaged three external design
consultants (31 December 2020: nine full-time employees and three
external design consultants). The staff costs of the Group (including
Directors’ remuneration, employees’ salaries, wages, other benefits
and contribution to defined contribution retirement plan) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were approximately HK$3.9 million (2020:
HK$4.4 million).

Our remuneration package includes basic salary, bonuses and
allowances. We review the performance of our employees regularly,
and the review outcome is used for the employees’ salary review and
promotion appraisal. We have set up a competitive remuneration
system that links a portion of our employees’ compensation to the
performance of our business in order to provide incentives to our
employees to strive for better results.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had not made any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures (2020: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have significant capital
commitments (31 December 2020: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ko Sin Yun (B#E0) (“Mr. Ko”), aged 60, is the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Group. Mr. Ko was
appointed as our executive Director and chairman of the Board on 19
January 2017 and 8 July 2017 respectively. He is the father of Mr. Ko
Man Ho (“Mr. Morris Ko”). He is primarily responsible for overseeing
overall management, business development strategic planning of the
Group. He has been the director of Vision Garments Limited (“Vision
Garments”) and Market Gala Limited (“Market Gala”) since 22
March 2010 and 20 March 2010, respectively.

Mr. Ko has more than 20 years of managerial and entrepreneurial
experience. He founded the Group in March 2010. Mr. Ko has been
involved in the trading business in Hong Kong since 1998. He is the
founder and a director of Silverise Electronic Limited ((RZEE T HRE A
Al), a company incorporated in Hong Kong in February 1988 and
principally engaged in the trading of electronic components in Hong
Kong. Mr. Ko is also the director of Azima International Company
Limited (A BB AR A R]), a private company in Hong Kong with its
principal business activity being property investments. Mr. Ko
obtained a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronics engineering
from Chung Yuan Christian University in Taiwan in June 1983.

Mr. Ko Man Ho (53X ), aged 32 was appointed as our executive
Director and chief executive officer on 8 July 2017 and 1 January
2017, respectively. He is the son of Mr. Ko. He is primarily responsible
for the overall management and administration of the business
operation of the Group.

He has been a director of Vision Garments since 15 May 2017. Mr.
Morris Ko joined Vision Garments as merchandiser in August 2010. In
April 2014, Mr. Morris Ko’s employment with Vision Garments was
transferred to Meridian Industries Limited (“Meridian”) and he worked
for Meridian as merchandiser. In view of the business needs of Vision
Garments, Mr. Morris Ko had been designated by Meridian to work
for Vision Garments exclusively and had been in charge of our sales
and sourcing team from December 2014 until December 2016. Since
January 2017, Mr. Morris Ko was again employed by Vision Garments
and has acted as our chief executive officer. Mr. Morris Ko graduated
from Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Kap Yan Directors’ College in
Hong Kong in May 2007 .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESREEBNERFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Cheng Ka Wing ($3%%) (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 40, was appointed
as our executive Director on 8 July 2017. He is also the compliance
officer of the Group. Mr. Cheng is primarily responsible for the
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury and internal control. In January 2017, Mr. Cheng joined the
Group as the chief financial officer of Vision Garments. He has been a
director of Vision Garments since 1 June 2017.

Mr. Cheng has accumulated over 10 years of experience mainly in
asset management, corporate finance and treasury management.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Cheng worked at Standard Chartered
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited from November 2006 to September 2007
as an analyst, at BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch as an analyst from
October 2007 to February 2013, at Meridian and Wisewing Business
Centre Limited from August 2013 to September 2014 as chief
investment officer, and at New Rise Construction Engineering Limited
from October 2014 to December 2016 as financial controller.

Mr. Cheng graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in December 2003, and from the
University of Durham with a master’s degree in financial management
in January 2006. He is a CFA® charterholder since September 2010.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. To King Yan, Adam (#:54{=) (“Mr. To”), aged 62, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 16 April 2018. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. To worked at the Legal Department of Hong Kong (currently the
Department of Justice of Hong Kong) as Assistant Crown Counsel
from September 1984 to September 1986 and as Crown Counsel
from September 1986 to February 1987. Mr. To joined K.B. Chau &
Co., a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong, since February 1987 and is
currently a partner of this firm with his practice focusing on
conveyancing and litigation. Mr. To graduated from the University of
London with a bachelor of laws degree in 1983. Mr. To has been a
practising solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 1986. In
addition, he is also qualified to practise law in England and Wales and
Australia, and is a China Appointed Attesting Officer. Since August
2009, Mr. To has been an independent non-executive director of
Rykadan Capital Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2288). Mr. To was an independent
non-executive director of Shen You Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8377) from
November 2017 to September 2018.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (E75ER) (“Mr. Kwok”), aged 62, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 16 April 2018. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Kwok is a physiotherapist with more than thirty years’ experience.
He worked as a physiotherapist at the Medical and Health
Department of Hong Kong (currently the Department of Health of
Hong Kong) from August 1982 to December 1985. From January
1987 to February 1994, he worked in Australia. He worked part-time
or full time at various hospitals and clinics including Hampton
Rehabilitation Hospital, Box Hill Hospital, Royal Children Hospital and
Medical Center in Ford Motor Company, and established his own
clinic, the Victoria Sports Spinal Physiotherapy and Acupuncture
Clinics. In February 1994, he moved back to Hong Kong and
established the ASA Physiotherapy Clinics. Mr. Kwok was also the
team physiotherapist for various sports teams in Australia and in
Hong Kong. He was invited to be the team physiotherapist for the
Hong Kong Olympic Committee, at 1996 Summer Olympic Games.
He was also a physiotherapist for the 12th Asian Games held in 1994,
the 2nd East Asian Games held in 1997, the 13th Asian Games held
in 1998 and the 3rd East Asian Games held in 2001. Mr. Kwok
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a professional diploma in
physiotherapy in 1982, The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
master of sciences degree in 2006 and the Hong Kong Baptist
University with a bachelor of Chinese medicine degree in 2008. He is
currently a registered physiotherapist and a registered Chinese
medicine practitioner.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Chan Kim Sun (FR#&|£2) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 40, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 16 April 2018. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

From October 2004 to March 2010, Mr. Chan joined HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited with his latest position as an audit manager.
From August 2011 to September 2014, Mr. Chan served as finance
controller and from September 2012 to September 2014 as company
secretary of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 600). Mr. Chan
is currently a non-practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan graduated from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree
in business administration majoring in accounting and finance in
November 2003. Since December 2015, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Virscend Education Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1565). Since February 2021, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Resources
Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2882). Since January 2020, Mr. Chan
has been the company secretary of WMCH Global Investment
Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8208).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lam Hau Chu (#I52k) (“Ms. Lam”), aged 56, was appointed
as our design manager on 1 January 2017. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the product design and development of
the Group.

Ms. Lam has been working in the apparel industry for more than 30
years. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lam worked as merchandiser at
Meridian from April 1989 to August 2010. Ms. Lam joined the Group
in September 2010 as designer of Vision Garments. In April 2015,
pursuant to a management arrangement with Meridian, our related
party, for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2016 (the
“Management Arrangement”), Ms. Lam’s employment was
transferred to Meridian, which then re-assigned Ms. Lam to work at
Vision Garments as designer and in charge of our design team. As
the Management Arrangement was terminated in December 2016,
Ms. Lam was again employed by Vision Garments as design manager
on 1 January 2017. Ms. Lam graduated from Kit Sam Middle School
in 1984.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining and achieving
high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that during the year ended 31 December
2021, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of
securities transaction by directors (the “Required Standard”).

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Required
Standard adoption to the senior management of the Company who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company (the “Relevant Employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Required Standard by the Relevant
Employees was noted by the Company.

DEERER
ARTEEGHNMS RERHAFOOEEA -

EEHE SKFNEEERNRAAEER
FERCRAE - IRITREEE - IEEBRE LK
RARREFBRARERAEEREHRIERNS ZME

Eo

AR R EE IR E R TIIAGEM L 47 BIl B 8%
THRABRGEE AT ([REERFR ) P&
JR AN B 5 BRSO AR R 4% o

A E2021 FE12 A1 BILEE -
RAF—EHEBFOEERTREMATE FAE

ESETESFRS

AR B2 R GEM LT #7 Bl 55 5.48 £ 5.67 14&Ff
HERESETESF R HNZH U FIRLE([ HUF
BE]) -

AAGEMERERELFTEN MESCHE
REENEHE2021 F12 831 HILFE—HET
WASFIZZAE o

AT IRE S04 AR SRR 0 90 A AT B
BARAXRAGHRBHEBENNEATSRE
8 ((HBES)) - AARYEERABEET
TG T o

2021 3R /| BB ERERAT 25



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ko Sin Yun ((Chairman of the Board and Chairman of
the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Ko Man Ho (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing (Chief Financial Officer and Compliance Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. To King Yan, Adam (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and Member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee)

Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (Member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Kim Sun (Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on page 19 to 24 of this
annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr.
Ko and Mr. Morris Ko respectively. The Chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s
business development and daily management and operations
generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the respective dates of their appointment
subject to termination by either party, giving at least three months’
notice in writing.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors for the time being (if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The retiring Directors should be
eligible for re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition, any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of shareholders after his/her
appointment, whereas any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continual Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to date of this report are summarised as follows:
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SEHEE

Director

2=

Executive Directors HITESF
Mr. Ko Sin Yun P EN S A&
Mr. Ko Man Ho BCREEE
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing ERRRitE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIFNTES
Mr. To King Yan, Adam MERCEE
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin PEBL A
Mr. Chan Kim Sun BoR &) 24 5 A
Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 3 to 4 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Sun (Chairman), Mr. To King Yan,
Adam and Mr. Kwok Chee Kin.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are, among others, to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
external auditor, review the financial information, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems and
audit process, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held
four meetings to review the quarterly, interim and annual financial
results, audit planning and reports, risk management and internal
control systems and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. To King Yan, Adam (Chairman), Mr.
Chan Kim Sun and Mr. Kwok Chee Kin.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group, reviewing performance-based remuneration, and ensuring
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2021 to review the remuneration policy and structure of
the Company and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management and other related matters.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Ko Sin Yun (Chairman), and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. To King Yan, Adam and Mr. Chan
Kim Sun.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, and selecting or making
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
board diversity as set out in the Company’s board diversity policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2021 to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and is available on the website of the Company. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that
the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is
committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, experience, expertise, qualifications,
skills and knowledge as well as independence of the Board.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria
and process and the Board succession planning considerations in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the approach to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend pay-out
ratio. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board. Any declaration of final dividend by the Company shall also be
subject to the approval of the shareholders in a shareholders’
meeting.

The Directors may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditure and future development requirements,
shareholders’ interests and other factors which they may deem
relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as well as the
amount of the dividends will be subject to constitutional documents,
any applicable laws and regulations, including the Cayman
Companies Law. Historical dividend distributions are not indicative of
the future dividend distribution. Any distributable profits that are not
distributed in any given year will be retained and available for
distribution in subsequent years. To the extent profits are distributed
as dividends, such portion of profits will not be available to be
reinvested in the Group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Required Standard and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORSAND EERZESHKEHERLE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Regular board meetings should be held at least four times a year FHESEE€HEEESLETOR  EhFKk
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic ~KZHEFHESFBEFRA ST AIERRHE -
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. Four regular & ZE2021F 12 A1 BILEE » T THAES

board meetings were held and one AGM was held for the year ended @ &M —AIREBFEAE -
31 December 2021.

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board #EHZ2021F 12 A31HILEE  SEEHFESE
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held &MEZEZESEHALARTREREHNHE
for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the table below: REEE SR T -

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/eEae
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination general
Name of Director Board committee committee committee meeting
RRBEF
EEpg Ex® EKZEEE® FMZEEE REZE® -
Mr. Ko Sin Yun L E 4/4 N/A NEFA N/A NE A 11 11
Mr. Ko Man Ho BIRLE 44 NATER  NATER  NATER il
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing BRANE 4/4 N/A NE A N/A NE A N/A & 11
Mr. To King Yan, Adam HRCEE 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin PEEREE 4/4 4/4 11 N/A TNE 11
Mr. Chan Kim Sun R &0 4 5 4/4 4/4 1 il 11

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held one HEZFETEHEHEIN  BHE2021F12A31 AL
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the ~ F& ° ‘IPUFE@SE%%M?%%&F%W%%T@?%
presence of executive Directors for the year ended 31 December  MIFHITEFRITE—REH -

2021.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted a series of internal control
policies, procedures and programs designed to provide reasonable
assurance for achieving objectives including effective and efficient
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The ultimate goal of the Company’s risk management process is to
identify and focus on the issues in its business operations that create
impediments to the Company’s success. The risk management
process starts with identifying the major risks associated with the
corporate strategies, goals and objectives. The key process points in
the risk management include:

° Identify:  The Company identifies current and emerging risks
in its business operations and categorises those
risks into a reasonable profile based on timeframe,
likelihood, intensity and impact severity. The
Company establishes four risk categories, including
strategic risks, financial risks, operating risks and
legal risks.

° Assess:  The Company assesses and prioritises risks so that
the most important risks can be identified and dealt
with. Based on both qualitative and quantitative
analyses, the Company prioritises risks in terms of
likelihood and impact severity.

° Mitigate:  Based on the assessment of (i) the probability and
impact severity of the risks and (i) cost and benefit
of the mitigation plans, the Company chooses the
appropriate option for dealing with risks, including
risk elimination by suspending the associated
business activities, risk reduction by adopting
appropriate control measures, risk transfer by
outsourcing or purchasing insurance policies, and
risk acceptance by choosing to accept risks of low
priority.

° Measure: The Company measures its risk management by
determining if changes have been implemented and
if changes are effective. In the event of any
weakness in control, the Company follows up by
adjusting its risk management measures and
reporting material issues to the Directors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans,
and monitored the risk management progress, and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness
of the systems.

The Company has engaged external professional firm for providing
the internal audit function and performing independent annual review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provided its
findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit
Committee. An assessment on our internal control systems has been
examined by the external professional firm during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Board therefore considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are effective and adequate.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 76 to 84 of this annual
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the current external auditor of the Company,
Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
HK$0.4 million. An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external
auditors of the Company, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
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Fees paid/

Services Category Payable
R R Bt EAER
(HK$ million)

(BBHIT)

Audit Services FHit R 0.4
Non-audit Services EEET IR -
0.4

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Chun Wai Edwin of Noble Partners CPA Company, an
external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as the
company secretary since 4 May 2019. Mr. Tam’s primary contact
person at the Company is Mr. Cheng, executive Director and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Tam also confirmed that he has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a shareholders’ communication policy
is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the
Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch share
registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of such general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 3/F, China United Plaza, 1002-1008 Tai Nan West
Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: contactus@vision-garments.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other general
meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not
made any changes to its Articles. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Articles is also available on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to
ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code that has become
effective from 1 January 2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

INTRODUCTION

The principal activities of the Group are (i) sales of apparel products
with the provision of SCM services to customers; and (ii) the provision
of agency services for construction and related materials. This report
summaries the policies, management approach and performance of
the Group in respect of corporate social responsibility. This ESG
report is focused on the Group’s principal activities and prepared in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Group recognises the importance of sustainable development.
Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth in order to achieve
business excellence and enhance long-term competitiveness. The
Group has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to environment, employment, operating
practices and community. By assessing and evaluating ESG-related
risks and reporting performance, the Group is able to ensure
operational reliance and compliance with the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

This ESG report illustrated and highlights the environmental and social
performance of the Group for the reporting period from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).
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R HERERERS

OUR MISSION AND VISION

The Group aims, not only at providing quality services to meet the
multi-dimensional needs of customers, but also at assuring
employees’ health and safety and mitigating environmental impact.
To reach these goals, the Group is committed to:

° Ensuring statutory and regulatory compliance as well as
compliance with all applicable requirements;

° Delivering professional, effective and timely services and
products to satisfy the needs and expectation of customers;

° Providing healthy and safe working conditions for all employees,
contractors and other associated stakeholders with the
business activities;

° Conserving resources and protecting the environment through
effective prevention and monitoring of pollution;

° Striving to achieve zero hazards, incidents and non-compliance;
and

° Strengthening staff capacity and providing adequate resources
to continually improve the productivity and effectiveness of the
management system.

BN EmRESR
ARBTEHTREBERY - KBREFHS
FEBF - ERERERTRERE 2 RAE
SEANPE - AEDIAR - AREB -

. BREEEAEMREERTEARETHA #E
RHE

&

o RHEZE ARAMEFEORENER
MEBRFPHF KL

e REBEES ABBEEBLIDNHEME

M ERERER L 20 TIERE

. BiH) BRI B B A TR R BEETR IS 2 A

IRFEIRIE

o IREITRE  FRIER K

e RIMEEREN  URHEFETERAFENR
EEIERGEEE MK -
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group opens up communication with its stakeholders, including
government, shareholder, investors, employees and consumers,
through utilising different channels as listed the table below. Through
the stakeholders’ engagement, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained

&2 R

through these channels allow the Group to further formulate the

sustainable development strategy.

AEERBMABTRAIINOTRAREBEERFNE
(BEBT - BR -#REE RERHEE)RHA
AR BARNESE  AKEN THEENEN
HERERE - BEXEREESHRERAEKE
] #E — 27 I T AT F AR 3R PR OR B -

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
& B SHERE #it
Government —  To comply with the laws On-site inspectionsand —  Operated, managed and

—  Proper tax payment

—  Promote regional
economic development
and employment

U - BTAR
- ZERNTE
-  EPmRLEERLRE

44 VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

checks

Research and discussion
through work
conferences, work
reports preparation and
submission for approval
Annual reports

Website

BERE L
BETFERETHRAR
A RELTIERE IR
R AL

Fl

Ak

paid taxes according to
laws and regulations

—  Strengthened safety
management

—  Accepted the
Government’s supervision,
inspection and evaluation

— Actively undertook social
responsibilities

—  REBEFERERETEE
EIR RN RIE

- MEZEER

- BEXBFEE - mE&TE

- ERETHERME
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RIE #HEBRER

|E

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BFOESHE @)

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures

#0E ML SERE #it

Shareholders and —  Lowrisk Annual general meeting  —  Issued notices of general

Investors

BRRIEEE

Return on the investment
Information disclosure
and transparency
Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

i9ENE3

BE [ H

BRI ENERE
REEHE R R A FHFAIR

and other shareholders’

meetings

Annual reports, circulars

and announcements
Newsletters

Meeting with investors
and analysts

BERBFERE RHEAM
Hﬁ%ﬁ*
Fik -
%ﬁfﬁ]jﬁﬁj
BB E AR & E

BN

meetings and proposed
resolutions according to
laws and regulations

—  Disclosed company’s
information by publishing
announcements/circulars
and periodic reports during
the year

—  Carried out different forms
of investor activities with
an aim to improve
investors’ recognition

—  Held results briefing once

—  Disclosed company
contact details on website
and in reports and ensured
all communication
channels are available and
effective

—  BEEFRERBEEREXR
gRERMRERARR

—  RERNBBTIEASE BK
KEESERBE QA ER

-  ETTREANKEER
) - UHIR IR EEHRR

— BT REEHRE

— R RmEREEAT
%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%L
RETAREK
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BFaESHEHm®)
Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
F0E L SERE #Eit
Employees —  Safeguard the rights and Conference —  Provided a healthy and
interests of employees Training, seminars, safe working environment
—  Working environment briefing sessions —  Developed a fair
—  Career development Cultural and sport mechanism for promotion
opportunities activities —  Established labor unions at
—  Self-actualization Newsletters all levels to provide
—  Health and safety Intranet and emails communication platforms
for employees
—  Cared for employees by
helping those in need
—  Organising employee
activities
{=3=] —  RERSERERER L - RHERRZENIERSE
—  I{ERE B e HRe - BENRTREFES
- BETERHS Mt REEEED - RUBRIerEEREE
- BHER ER mYa
- BERZZ AEEY R - BUREDERENES
— HEBEBED
Customers —  Safe and high-quality Website, brochures, —  Strengthened quality
products annual reports management to ensure
—  Stable relationship Email and customer stable production and
— Information transparency service hotline smooth transportation
— Integrity Feedback forms —  Entered into long-term
—  Business ethics Regular meetings strategic cooperation
agreements
LSS - ZERKEEEM Wk~ MBF  FaR —  INREEEEUARREEE
- IBEERF BENREFREERR B KB E
- BHEHE BEREE —  FIURHBES{ER®
- B2 EHgE
- BERER
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B HERERRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFMG

In the year, the Group undertakes its annual materiality assessment ~ F R REBEH#ETEFEEEMTE - @5 RHE
exercise. This involves conducting interviews and/or surveys with W EBRSMNEBFS ) FEITRIA S SHBE - A5
internal and external stakeholders to identify the most significant HEXGREENEE REMMEVE -
operating, environmental and social impacts towards its business.

Materiality matrix for Environmental, Social

and Governance Aspects

RIE g kEnsiENERLEE
8,9,10,11,13,14,
& 15,16
(O] 5 )
i)
= 6,17
<
T oy 4 ¢
X
© H‘H}H 3,7,12
)
%) = 3 ®
= N 1,2,4,5
8 QS 2 {
c
& 18
'(t) Ry 1 ®
o
£ 0
0 1 2 3 4 5
Importance to business
HEBHEZ M
Environmental Social Operating practices
RIE HE REER
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8 Employee welfare 14.  Product responsibility
1. OREREHN 8. BIRF 14. EMEME
2. Waste 9. Labour standards 15. Intellectual property
2. EED 9.  HBIER| 15, HBERE
3. Energy consumption 10. Occupational health and safety ~ 16. Customer privacy
3. BEIREAE 10. BEREEREEZS 16. BB
4. Water consumption 11.  Training and development 17.  Anti-corruption
4. FKE 1. EJIRERE 17. REF
5. Utilization of energy resources 12.  Anti-child labour and forced 18.  Community investment
labour
5.  BEREEA 12. BIlEETRe&HIST 18. ftRIEE
6. Use of packaging material 13.  Supply chain management
6. BEMEMER 13, fHEEER
7. Environmental impact of business
7. EBEHRENFE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Emission

Given the nature of the operations, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most traditional industries. The Group
is not aware of any material environmental liability risk or compliance
costs. However, the Group is committed to continuously improving
our business environmental sustainability. In striving to do the right
things as a company, the Group recognises that it has a responsibility
to reduce the impact of the operations and be accountable for the
resources and materials it uses each day.

The Group’s businesses are mostly carried out locally in office. During
the year, the total floor area coverage of the Group was around 382
m?. The Group has encompassed the general approach towards
controlling environmental impacts of office activities. The Group’s
most significant environmental impacts are greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions from electricity consumption, such as from the air-
conditioning system, the lighting system, computers, printers and

REEM

BER

mm%%m&g AEEHRENAEPZEIR
REDEHRITE - REEALTMBEMNERRE
BERBEARKA o A - REBB IR TEH
RAXBOREIHEL - (ER—MBRF EX
NEHEREZEE - AEERREBEETRLH
LEELNFEIHEHMANEREMHAE -

AEBENEBRB D RN E M AZHETT - F
W AEBMBRERBELRIB2FITK - A&
B O BRER— AR 7 SRR 6 A IR B IR IR AR
MEE AEERIENREFEZRAENM
FHWAEREB(RERR]  MREZEFHF
B ARG B STEIREREMBARE -
$%iﬁﬁﬁ*&ii&ﬁﬁﬁﬁl&ﬂ@% TMBESL

other office equipment. The Group does not engage in any discharge AN EZEEYREEZREEY - AERAREEE
of waste into water and land, and there was no significant generation 1Z XEBECE M [ EREMR | — &P Tl a9 &En
of hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes. In line with the aim 48 RIE 5B AR A8 = E A HE AR ©
to minimise emissions, the Group has implemented energy saving
practices which are mentioned in the session of “Use of Resources”
to reduce the GHG emissions.
The GHG emission during the Reporting Period is as follow: RBEHRNREREBHROT ¢
Table 1 GHG Emission R1BEREHER
Equivalent CO,
Scope emission (kg)
“EbIREEHK
ik (F=)
Scope 1 #3051 Nil
Scope 2 #iks2 13,175
Total 1a=t 13,175
Intensity HE 34 kg/m?
F5,/ K
Note: gz
The calculation of GHG is based on the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting  REREDNEBEEEREBREZTERN [MEGHE
Standard” from greenhouse gas protocol. WMERE|FTES ﬁ
Scope 1: Direct emission from vehicle that owned by the Group #HE1: REAEBMESERNEZEENR

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group
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R HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of resources. The
major resources used by the Group are electricity, water and paper.
Due to our business nature, no packaging material is used. The
Group strives to improve the efficient use of natural resources, such
as minimising waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Practical measures are implemented as follows:

Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged. Electrical appliances are
required to be set as energy saving mode where possible. For
computers, the automatic sleep mode is scheduled to be 20 minutes
or less. The room temperature should be set at a range from 20°C to
26°C. Also, power supply should be switched off when they are not in
use. Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively high
energy efficiency.

The energy consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Table 2 Energy Consumption

REEHE®

EREEA

AEESEERANERALRE  AEEFERANE
BERAEN  KREE - ERRMOELMY
o BT EERE AR - AEESHiE
FERRAARERNNN AINEERL ER
W, B R BT 2 BB B - AR
ERE TS B HEIT

Eh

BB BRI NAENRER - HEBRR
AR BEIRER - BN 205 B R A B A B
B ERNRAEEERERNER20EEZREK26E
2 e s - EAHEDE AR EZERE - R
BIERFARRAER SO AEE -

RBEHANEROBEEENT
R2BEFHFER

Consumption

Energy (kWh)

HIEE
HER (FEE)
Electricity B 25,833
Energy Intensity BER=E 67.63
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) REEH®)
Use of Resources (Continued) BIRE B @)
Water A7k

The impact of freshwater use is relatively insignificant for the Group as ~ ANEE KL RIS X EA 21 WHBAIGER BN
its businesses are services-focused. The Group did not encounter — ZEFF¥f K o 78 & B SKEUE ORI 8 3
any problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water rate TR @&E - KEBWIFAE P —EHF BB © B
charges do not form a separate item in the rent, yet the Group  ANEBHEIE THASRERK - Hla0EZKEE
encourages staff to reduce water wastage, such as, by not running 2B ~—E$THI/KEERHE -

water taps while cleaning in the pantry.

The water consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows: RS ROEKENT
Table 3 Water Consumption RIFEKE
Consumption
Water (m3)
HEE
7k (ZFK)
Water 7K 88
Intensity BE 0.23 m3/m?
SRR K
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources (Continued)

Paper

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG emission.
The Group has been taking various steps to reduce paper
consumption such as to reduce the use of paper by printing or
photocopying on both sides of paper, where applicable and to
encourage the employees to use suitable font size/shrinkage mode to
minimise pages, if possible. Besides, electronic media is
recommended for circulation/communication, to minimise using

paper.
During the Reporting Period, the paper consumption was 75 kg.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed/generated no
significant hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste, and packaging
materials due to its business nature. The Group is not aware of any
material violation in all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on environmental issues through
education and training and enlist employees’ support in improving the
Group’s performance, promote environmental awareness amongst
the customers, business partners and shareholders and support
community activities in relation to environmental protection and
sustainability and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental
matters. With the integration of policies mentioned in sections
“Emission” and “Use of Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the
impacts to the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change is a prevalent issue to all sectors and geographical
regions. However, as a SCM and agency service provider, climate
change is not a material aspect for the Group in the short and
medium term.

REEHE®

BRER @

e
AORREER O REBEAEIN - AEED
RIS B R O RN - f0fE A E DRI,
T (ER) AL RS REBEBETTER
TEREETE AR EER T - It
Hh - BRI G RE TR ETEN, BN
AREB D R -

REEHR - AREFERTE TR »

R EHRE ENXHUEE  AEELHERE
B/ ELEREREERY BEBERNREEM
o ARBATNEBEMNRERZRAEERRE
ERFUERNBER o

REMRAARER

AEBBBHE MEIARTEITHREEEN
Bl UBKREENSFUARARNEENKRE -
AEF  EBAERHRBRERRREM I
HHRBRERRANIAIKERROEHHETX
o AREHRFERERBERREZERE
RERRFEEENEB LY - EZH Ry
R[EBRER] MEFTLMBRETES - K%
s D EEIRBERRAERMEKRNEERE
&K e

=

KRR

AR B AL R PR 17 4 0 38 I o A 7 9 24
B o AT - (ERBBIEIR R IR IR GRS
RRBETRAALH A EBNEAEE -

2021 3% / EH B ERAR DR

51



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and labour practices

We consider our employees to be our valuable assets and therefore
attach great importance to our recruitment. We recruit employees
possessing necessary skills and creative talents to help execute and
achieve our business strategies and objectives. The Group assesses
the available human resources on a continuous basis and will
determine whether additional personnel are required to cope with the
business development of the Group. In line with the need of business
development and the principles of fairness and justice, the Group
selects the best and suitable qualified candidates through open
recruitment or internal promotion. The Group applies robust and
transparent recruitment processes based on merit selection against
the job criteria, and recruit individuals based on their suitability for the
position and potential to fulfil the Group’s current and future needs.

The promotion of the Group’s employees is subject to regular review.
The Group gives priority to internal promotion and encourages
employees to compete for internal job vacancies. The Group has set
targets for each employee’s work, assessed their performance on an
annual basis and set clear guidelines and regulations to improve the
efficiency of the employees and departments. This system provides
reference standards for salary adjustment, bonus distribution and
promotion.

Any termination of employment contract should be based on
reasonable, lawful grounds and internal policies, such as the
Employee Handbook. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of unfair or
illegitimate dismissals. For those who have unsatisfactory working
performance or repeatedly made mistakes, the Group would give
verbal warning before issuing a warning letter. For those who shows
no improvement, the Group would consider dismissing the employees
according to the relevant laws in Hong Kong.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Employment and labour practices (Continued)

The Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of our
employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of Hong
Kong. We have set up a competitive remuneration system that links a
portion of our employees’ compensation to the performance of our
business in order to provide incentives to our employees to strive for
better results. Our remuneration package includes basic salary,
bonuses and allowances. We place great emphasis on employee
performance in determining their remuneration. We review the
performance of our employees regularly, and the reviewed outcome
is used for the employee’s salary review and promotion appraisal.

We also maintain employees’ compensation insurance for all of our
employees as required under the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong. We operate defined
contribution retirement benefits schemes under MPF schemes
registered under the relevant laws and regulations for our employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions to such schemes are based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

As at 31 December 2021, the total workforce of the Group was 6
(2020: 7), all of which worked full-time.

HEER®)

ElE &S TEN @)
AEBBEEEOERL TAFIRSEELTE
BB TAH - BRI T —EESF 0T
S BEEMBOME RRMM LS RBH

9 LR EEE FEEERR - RAANGH TS
BRELRFHT  CALRR - RMEETEREH
s ERERERR - WIE WA EERR -
Mg ERARNEENHFSBRERENER -

BRI B BE R (BB ERFE2828) &
Hih BB ER AR AR AT BEERBEER
BRE - RATABTERERXBREBBEEZR
ERBRMBIESFE T HREHFERAKBNG
g WiREEEAFEN —EB N LA E

TR -

MR2021F12A31H " EBEREBERE B6A
(20205 : 7 N) - 9 BEHRIES -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) HEEM @
Employment and labour practices (Continued) B &% TIEH ()
The employee composition of the Group is listed in the following — ZAR&EBEHE THEAN TRIIE ¢
table:

2021 2020
Employee Structure BI#HEE 2021 4 2020 4F
Total number of employees BEBIAY 6 7
By gender 7B # 75
Male B 50.0% 57.1%
Female pegi 30.0% 42.9%
By gender IS
By age group REBRERE D
26-35 26 2351 16.7% 14.3%
36-45 36 £ 455% 30.0% 42.8%
46-55 46 2 555% 16.7% 28.6%
56 or above 56 p%E A 16.7% 14.3%
By employee category ZIEBEFIZ 5
Senior management SRER 33.3% 28.6%
Middle management R E IR 33.3% 42.8%
General Staff —RET 33.3% 28.6%
By Geographical regions IR [ 13 2 5
Hong Kong BE 100% 100%

No employee left the Group during the Reporting Period, contributing  PA¥R&EHEIR  ANEBE T E R S8R - BT A X
to an overall turnover rate of 0%. 0% °

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance regarding  RREHR - AEESHESMELSBRERNE
employment has been brought against the Group or its employee. KEREIE -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Health and Safety

As we do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities, we are not
subject to any manufacturing-related occupational health, work safety
and environmental issues. As required under Hong Kong laws, we
take out employees’ compensation insurance for our employees.

The COVID-19 pandemic crisis has been putting pressure on the
Group and its employees during the Reporting Period. As part of the
COVID-19 countermeasures and to prevent the spread of the virus,
the Group has implemented stringent infection preventive measures
to protect its employees. The Group’s closely monitored the health of
its employees every day by checking their body temperature,
providing sufficient surgical masks and alcohol-based hand rub in the
offices. The Group also required its employees to consider using
other methods such as online video meeting software for interviews
or meetings. Employees are advised to wear masks and avoid
physical contact (such as shaking hands, hugging) and crowded
places when they are required to meet people or work outside in their
local community.

HEE® @)
&fﬂ%ﬁi
AR MIEFEE K2 BT MWEERE - BT
SEREERENBERE  TIER2 RIRSE
FHAR - REEBEEZAT  RMEAREER
BREBERR -
REREHR - COVID-19R BRME RER K HE
REERES - AEE D EHEIS B B
HEAREERE - tEACOVID-19E S e M —

BHoRAMILRSERE AEESARYERE
BMERE  RIFAZERERENER  IBHEH
MINIOBRERBEFR - AEETEREEZ
BEREMEE R LR RSB ETE®
%G o RIFEREESET ZHEAME AN
APIemEsk TIERME DS R % 5585 (0
BF - i) REGmE T -

The occupational health and safety data during the Reporting Period R IR&EEIRNM B 2@ ERZ 28050 T
is as follows:
2021 2020 2019
2021 % 20204 20194
Male Female Male Female Male Female
Health and Safety REHEZSE B4 o B peglis B pegis
Number of work-related  E T {ERIZ LT
fatalities EOPNE Nil & Nil Z NIl Z NIl Z NIl Z NIl Z
Lost days due to work
injury TEEERTIEHE Nil = Nil = Nil = Nil Z Nil Z Nil =
During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance cases were noted in - R ER&EHAR - WEZIR M AFARERT 2E

relation to laws and regulations for health and safety.

BREEMAMEZ o
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Development and Training

We believe that on-going development and training of our employees
is critical to our success. We are committed to employee
development and provide various training to our employees to
support their further development through education allowance to
reimburse fees of external training seminars as stated in the staff
policy book. We believe it is a win-win approach for achieving both
employee and corporate goals as a whole.

HEER®
%JE&iJH
AR - 1R B MR 5 R B 3 3 P B
HEMEE - RMBHOREBEERE T ARER
HEFEEY - RBHE R RSB E
BB (MB IREFMAM) UL B HEEE—
SR RAEL DT RBES RO EEEE
ErERHR -

Average
Percentage of training hours
(per employee)

FE IR

employee trained

ZHETHSL (BHER)
By gender 1L RIZ 5
Male B 100% 17.5
Female pegid 100% 17.5
By employee category BIEIREFIZ 5
Senior management mBREEE 100% 17.5
Middle management RRERE 100% 17.5
General Staff 3= 100% 17.5
Labour Standards 2 T AR
The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour violate — ZNE2EE41E T RoaiA LS TRIDERALE - TR
fundamental human rights and also pose threat to sustainable social — # & RSB FERRIEREEZ - AEEEBRIEE

and economic development. The Group strictly complies with the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour. Employment
contracts and other records, documenting all relevant details of the
employees (including age) are maintained properly for verification by
relevant statutory body upon request.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with policies
and relevant laws and regulations regarding prevention of child labour
or forced labour.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management

To focus our time and resources on provision of apparel SCM
services, we outsource the manufacturing of all apparel products
ordered by our customers to our suppliers in the PRC, Madagascar
and Cambodia.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 11 suppliers as below:

HEEE W)

i e g B 1R

BT (P TSR 1 IR 5 B RS L 0B S
RER  BMEEFITHROMEREERNLE
SN FHRE BN IR IR AR o

R2021F12A31H » AEBEBE U T 1L HEER :

No. of suppliers

HEEEA
PRC H 8
Madagascar =il il 1
Hong Kong B 1
Macau SR 1

QOur sales and sourcing team is responsible for the overall production
management including selecting and engaging suppliers for
manufacturing of apparel products. We have adopted and
implemented policies and procedures in selecting new suppliers for
manufacturing of apparel products and monitoring their ongoing
performance. We regularly select and evaluate our suppliers, based
on a number of factors including technical capability, manufacturing
capacity, quality, reputation, timely delivery, pricing, costs and
payment terms.

Besides, to determine whether to allocate production orders to
suppliers in the PRC, Madagascar or other countries, we typically
take into consideration of their prices, technical capabilities,
production capacities, delivery schedules and their respective
competitive strengths. Suppliers in different countries and different
regions of the PRC have their own competitive strengths. For
example, suppliers in the southern region of the PRC are equipped
with advanced manufacturing equipment and are capable of
manufacturing a wide variety of apparel products. Suppliers in the
central and northern regions of the PRC are in close proximity to raw
material supply and thereby are able to manufacture apparel products
at lower costs. For our suppliers in Madagascar and other countries,
the costs of manufacturing apparel products are more competitive
due to the lower labour costs in Madagascar and other countries, and
the exemption of import duty for exporting apparel products from
Madagascar and other countries to Europe.

BPMHEERRBESKEEREAEETE B85
BEMSFHEANERKER - RARKRE
EmBEEN TR R ERRENRHERRR
ERMMEBITRRNER - ZAIREZEEZR(E
mEAEE ) - W) HE BE REX
£ BB~ PR R A SRR S HAEE AR A

AN BREEREVEEETEEHRE - FEM
M EMEROHER  RABEEEEE
& BAiEE D EEREN  REKBRMESE
B EFEY - TRBERESE A RIRHHE
BEEBSHFEDS - Pl ErEHEELEAL
ERERE EAREZBERKER - EH Rk
AL AR R AR - [ T 88 IR B R A
ARELERRE A fn o BI85 AT 0 K oAt B
ROMEEME  REERBENAKARF
B Tyl B E AT I R E A R K BB AR
ERAREE b FEMAT MR EMBERE OE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

We further evaluate such suppliers’ performance through our
inspections on apparel products. We follow up closely with our
suppliers on production and delivery schedules in order to ensure that
the finished products can be delivered in accordance with our
customers’ requirements. Thus, we believe there are no significant
environmental and social risks for our management decision on
supply chain management.

Product Responsibility

Quality assurance

We maintain a quality control programme for the apparel products
throughout the production process manufactured by our suppliers,
with the view to ensuring the overall quality of the apparel products.
Our quality control team performs on-site inspections on the raw
materials to be used on the apparel products and semi-finished
products to ensure they meet the relevant specifications. In addition,
our quality control team inspects and performs laboratory tests on the
raw materials in accordance with the local and international
standards, where necessary. Our quality control team reviews such
test results and decides whether the raw materials meet our quality
requirements.

We carry out inspections on the apparel products ordered by our
customers during the production process using different inspection
methods. Before the packaging and delivery of finished products to
customers, we perform on-site quality inspections to ensure that all
finished products comply strictly with customers’ requirements and
our internal standards. If any defect is found in the finished products,
we require the suppliers to rectify the defects at no additional cost
and subsequently re-examine the reprocessed products. After
passing the final inspection, all finished products are packed for
delivery.

For our quality control measure over selection of suppliers, please
refer to aspect “Supply Chain Management” in this ESG Report for
further details.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Product return policy

The apparel products ordered by our customers are subject to final
inspections before delivery to ensure they conform with our
specifications and quality requirements and thus not subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons. We do not have a product return
policy. However, we may return products due to quality issues or
require our suppliers to rectify any defects our customers identified
after delivery of the products. In the event that issues relating to
product return arises, we follow up closely with our customers on any
claims or requests for product return, payment refund, rectification or
price discount, and may enter into negotiations with our customers to
resolve the issue on a case by case basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any
products related complaints.

Intellectual property rights

The Group highly respects property right (including intellectual
property). Employees shall comply with laws and regulations
applicable to locations where business operates.

Data protection

Employees are generally required to follow the confidentiality clause
as stated in the staff policy book and employment contract,
requesting employees not to disclose any trade secret or other
confidential information concerning the business or affairs of the
Group except for benefit of the Group with further authorisation.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of non-compliance
against products and services related laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development in a fair
and honest working environment, the Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy to avoid suspected corruption and provided
channel such as by letters, meetings, emails or phone calls for
employees to report suspected corruption. If there are any suspected
case related to corruption, employees are encouraged to report the
related cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical
actions not only win the trust of customers, but also enhance the
sense of belonging and fair play among our employees. The Group
has been in strict compliance with laws and regulations related to
anti-corruption.

The Group will provide training to our directors and employees on
anti-corruption practices in the ensuing financial year.

During the Reporting Period, no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices were brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed to
understand the needs of the communities in which we operate. The
Group understands that a productive relationship with the community
is the only sustainable way for the Company to gain ground in the
market. The Group is therefore committed to handling all opinions
and feedbacks from the community in a dynamic, friendly and
responsive manner. The Group contributes to the community by
bringing employment opportunities to locals whenever appropriate to
echo with our mutually-beneficial relationship. The Group strives to
develop long-term relationship with our stakeholders and seek to
make more contributions to have a positive impact on community
development.

The Group has not participated in any community investment in the
Reporting Period. The Group will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the next Reporting Period.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The principal
activity of the Group are (i) sales of apparel products with the
provision of SCM services to customers; and (ii) the provision of
agency services for construction and related materials.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 85 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 of the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2021, the key factors affecting its results and financial
position are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. A fair review of, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this annual report.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are summarized as
follow:

(@  Reliance upon limited number of major customers

(b)  Failure to respond to changes in fashion trends and preferences
of our customers and end consumers

(c) Reliance on supplies for the manufacturing of apparel products
(d) Increase in the costs of raw materials or labour

(e)  Any other principal risks involved in the Group

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 168 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rate basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the period from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves on the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 88 and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$0.4 million (2020: HK$9.1
million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s largest and
five largest customers’ aggregate amount represented approximately
28.3% (2020: approximately 30.4%) and 98.9% (2020: approximately
79.4%) of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

During the year under review, the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 44.4%
(2020: approximately 36.8%) and 87.3% (2020: approximately
90.0%) of the Group’s total purchase, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any
of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any
shareholders who or which own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and/or suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ko Sin Yun (Chairman)

Mr. Ko Man Ho (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. To King Yan, Adam

Mr. Kwok Chee Kin

Mr. Chan Kim Sun
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Pursuant to article 84 of the Article, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Ko Sin Yun and Mr. To King Yan,
Adam shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the respective dates of their appointments and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with our Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing date, subject to termination by
either party by giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or
entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors regarding his independence in accordance with
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers each of them being
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Under the Articles, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, cost, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred or sustained by him as a Director provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
attached to him. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of legal action against the Directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, and time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 12 of
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, neither Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business
of the Group, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the year ended 31 December 2021.

BUERAE
ARTEEEEBYEATESRIECGEM LS
SRRIZE5.00 (B B HOBRE - LRA
HEEEHRBIATL -

BERERX

RIBAR - BREEABEARRREE RGN
ERRERERER EETEREGRESM
BHRELNMEHR BER WE - -BK B
ERAXERRES  HILBETNSTHEEEME
HEGFFA T HERENEE - ARRCHESA
BEEE R ARRMEBEERIR

FBUR
HHEBEBLEEENME - TR HEE
B BRI RAEBORA - hi REEE
FOHMRAEFIEE -

EEME
EEMS O ERARFREAP B RRME
12

EERRG  RERSHHPHER

BRAFRES M BRI 12FREEIN - ¥
HE2021F12A B FEREEEREEN
BE B RN AR RS HAE [ E A BT RI L E AR
SEXBEMEBEENENRS - ZHRAEHP
B ERER A EAE

2021 3R / BABERERERAT 65



REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules), engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest with
the Group. A deed of non-competition dated 16 April 2018 was
entered into by the controlling shareholders in favour of the Company
(for itself and as a trustee for its subsidiaries) (the “Deed”), details of
which were set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholder” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from the
controlling Shareholders in respect of their compliance with the non-
competition undertakings under the Deed throughout the period from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2021. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance with the non-
competition undertakings under the Deed by the controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that the controlling Shareholders have
not been in breach of the Deed during the year ended 31 December
2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Required Standard regarding

Directors’ securities transactions. Having been enquired by the
Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 16 April 2018 pursuant to a resolution

passed by the Company’s then sole shareholder. The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme but does
not form part of, nor was it intended to be, part of the Share Option

Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme:

()

(i)

(i)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide eligible
participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company and to motivate, attract and retain the eligible
participants whose contributions are important to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme and
Eligibility Criteria

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including any director of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with or otherwise engaged by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries at the time when an option is granted.

Maximum number of Shares subject to Options
The total number of shares available for issue in respect of
which options may be granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 10,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual report (i.e.,
100,000,000 Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The
Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit with
shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal may
not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue as at
the date of the shareholders’ approval.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Maximum number of Shares subject to Options
(Continued)

The maximum number of shares underlying all outstanding
options which have been granted and have yet to be exercised
pursuant to the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 30.0% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in the
manner as set out in the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares underlying the options granted to each
eligible participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1.0% of the
shares of the Company in issue for the time being.

Option period

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by our Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant (the “Option
Period”).

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an eligible
participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such eligible participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant,
together with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from,
and inclusive of, the date of offer).

Subscription price

Subject to any restrictions applicable under the Listing Rules,
an option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at
any time during the Option Period in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and the terms on which the option
was granted.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(vii) Subscription price (Continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of our Directors
but in any event will not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date of the particular option, which must be a business day; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as shown in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date of that
particular option; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the
offer date of the particular option.

(viii) Life of the Share Option Scheme

(ix)

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
commencing from the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme until the termination date as provided therein (which
being the close of business of the Company on the date which
falls ten years from the date of the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme), after which period no further options will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted or exercised prior thereto or otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

Present status of the Share Option Scheme

No share option was granted, lapsed, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption on 16 April 2018 and there was no outstanding share
option as at the date of this annual report (2020: Nil).

Further details on the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme were summarised in the paragraph headed “Statutory
and General Information — D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the sub-sections headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporation” and “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age)
to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined in the Securities and Future
Ordinance (the “SFO”) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
COMPLIANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Board and the
management of the Company are committed to maintaining and
achieving a high standard of corporate governance practices with an
emphasis on a quality Board, an effective accountability system and a
healthy corporate culture in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance the business growth of
the Group. Where applicable, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
25 to 41 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year under review.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising adverse
impacts of daily operations to environment, such as energy and
recycling of office resources. The Group will continue to seek better
environmental practices and promote the correct environmental
attitudes and values within the organisation. The Group has complied
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details of the environmental policy are set out in the ESG Report on
pages 42 to 60 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group were entered into or existed during the year under
review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of the annual report, there was a sufficient
prescribed public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTIONS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of each of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange: (a)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any
interests and short positions in which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein (the
“Register”); or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

EERERSTHRAERAQFARA
MBEBNRG  HERORERE
HNEENAE

MR2021 12 A31H - EEZ R AR B HF=ITH
ABRARASEMAEEEZE (EEREFSH L
EIEBIZEXVES) iR (n - MR D R EEEH 6
mRKREF  BEEQREBEELFRBAEKIE
HET7R8DEMAME RN T RE AT E R
RE(BEREREES RAEKIIGHIEX
WEEREREENEMEELXE) D) IR
B H L EE G5 352 (KB E R Z IKFT il &
(TR ERRAE o) RIEE/EE
HETHEHF X HHGEM LR AIE5.46 (5B A
EARRNAI RS AR AT

u

XS R
¢ e B

3

Long Position in the Shares AR B4 B
Percentage
Number of of issued
Name of Director Nature of interest and capacity Shares held share capital
EEnE ERRUEERSH FIEROEHE HERITREABEIHL
(Note 1) (Note 3)
(BF5E1) (M7E3)
Mr. Ko Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 75,000,000 (L) 75%
[Pt MREHEE R (PIE2) 75,000,000 (L) 75%
Notes: sk
1. The letter “L” denotes to the long position in the Shares. 1. FE (L] RTRBRO PR -
2. The Shares are registered in the name of Metro Vanguard Limited 2. & % B 13 LA Metro Vanguard Limited ([ Metro

(“Metro Vanguard”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, the issued share capital of which is wholly owned by Mr. Ko.
Accordingly, Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Metro Vanguard for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

3. The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2021
(i.e., 100,000,000 Shares).
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTIONS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)
Long Position in the Shares of Associated
Corporation

BEENBSITHRAERARTRHE
HEELIENRSG  HERORER
EFNERRAE &)

RARBEZE D R 4 R

Number and Percentage

Name of Capacity/ class of of issued

Name of Director associated corporation Nature of interest securities share capital

5L HECEEE R B3 EntE HEHEARER HEBTREAADL

Mr. Ko Metro Vanguard Beneficial owner 100 100%
Ordinary shares

=RE Metro Vanguard BEHEEA 100 Az & ik 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be entered in the Register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interest and short positions of the
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or required to be recorded in the register

FERFRAROREBRONER
&/:‘Z/AF’

R2021F12A31H - KREZH AR A H=ITH
ABHN - AT AT TEARR BB R ABBIAR 1D P #E
ERBEBHFREEBEAEXNBE2REIDIIE
NAEME AR E R R TR AL ARIEE S & E
EI&PI5E 336 AN RIATFERNECMAOER R

required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO  A&#T :
were as follows:
Long Position in the Shares R EVEF B
Percentage
Number of of Issued
Name Nature of interest and capacity Shares held share capital
BB A ERMtERSH FERAHE HERTREAEIL
(Note 1) (Note 3)
(MsE1) (M5E3)
Metro Vanguard Beneficial owner 75,000,000 (L) 75%
Metro Vanguard EmEAA
Ms. Chan Sau Fung Interest of spouse (Note 2) 75,000,000 (L) 75%

BRF Bl 2+ otz (faE2)
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes to the long position in the Shares.

2. Ms. Chan Sau Fung is the spouse of Mr. Ko. By virtue of the SFO, she
is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Metro Vanguard in
which Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested.

3. The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
Company’s total number of issued shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e.,
100,000,000 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021
and up to the date of this annual report.

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 comply with applicable reporting standards, GEM
Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“DTT”) had been the auditors of the
Group since the Listing Date until 31 October 2019. On 31 October
2019, DTT resigned as the auditors of the Company and Fuson CPA
Limited, currently known as Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited, was
appointed as the new auditors of the Group to fill the casual vacancy
with the recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Board with
effect from 31 October 2019.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited,

who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.

A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ko Sin Yun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

KINBEEFMEFTERA A
YONGTUO FUSON CPA LIMITED

TO THE MEMBERS OF
VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vision
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
85 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B & HE R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

RREESEE

HREETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHAETTREFARETSEANG A

Revenue Recognition

Wk R

We identified revenue recognition, relating to the sales of
apparel and related products with the provision of supply
chain management services to customers by the Group,
regarding whether sales transactions have occurred as a
key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements.

EEBER BERENEFPREMHMHEEEERBENRER
HHERHS KRR (FRHEERIEEEE)HBI A/
REAFE REASEHGEHBHRENELE -

During the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue from
sales of apparel and related products with the provision of
supply chain management services amounted to
approximately HK$124,658,000.

BHE2021F12 A1 B IEFE - RERHHEEEEERE

Revenue from the sales of apparel and related products
with the provision of supply chain management services
is recognised when the customer obtains the control of
the apparel products underlying the particular
performance obligation, being when the apparel products
are delivered to the customers at the designated location
and the titles are passed to the customers.
KERHMHEREEEREMESREREHEERIEENK
RN PRI ENT EBA B (A 60 AR mm e R SR -
BEREERNEEHHEINTEFAMBERERERP
W T UATERR o

The accounting policy for revenue recognition is disclosed
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
WS R BRI E R R A M B ME LS -
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Our procedures in relation to assessing the occurrence of
sales of apparel and related products with the provision of
supply chain management services included:

BB RS R R T IR RS T E £ IR AR E
miHE MR FRIE

° Obtaining an understanding of the revenue business
process and revenue recognition policy;
T AR R RSB AE R R FERR IR

° Reviewing contract terms, on a sample basis, to
evaluate whether the Group’s accounting policy is in
compliance with the relevant accounting standard;
MERER S OB LS ERENSFBREST
A ERET

° Testing the key controls over revenue recognition
which addressing the occurrence, accuracy and
timing of the revenue recognition; and
RIS R TR T SIS - R MR B
MR &

° Tracing recorded sales transactions, on a sample
basis, to the corresponding invoices, delivery
documents and settlement records.
MEREMELRIEER S EREEE
Haosx o

A S B
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B R HE R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREENEE

HREETEE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHENTTREFARETEEANG A

Provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables

BESEUSEANRAEEER ([BAEEER]) RE

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significant
balance of trade receivables to the consolidated
statement of financial position and the significant degree
of management judgement involved in recognising
impairment loss on trade receivables.

BB EZREFIRNEREEBH RO EGI RS
AERE RAREZERUEFIEANGEFBIRARTOHSE
EX - TREBE®RRAEZERFAREBERSZED
BRI -

The carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$70,931,000 net of loss
allowance of ECL amounted to approximately
HK$8,406,000 as at 31 December 2021.

R2021F12 831 H » EXENE SERYGIEREEN A
70,931,000 % 7. (F1FR TE HI5 & 518 /) 5 18 58 5 40 8,406,000
BIT) ©

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the sufficiency of
the estimated impairment of trade receivables included:
A E ZRYEGIAMGFOREN TSR E - RMANEZE
FrAtE

° Understanding the management process of
assessing the estimated impairment loss on trade

receivables;
. TR E S RGBT EEENERET

° Assessing the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used in the Group’s ECL assessment
with reference to the historical default rates and
forward-looking information of trade receivables;
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B & HE R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREEEE

HREETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHENTTREFARETEEANG A

As disclosed in notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the provision of ECL was assessed
by the management based on valuations prepared by an
independent qualified professional valuer. The ECL was
assessed based on provision matrix. In determining the
ECL using the provision matrix, it is based on historical
default rates taking into consideration both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable including forward-looking information that is
available.

BANERE IS RMAM SR 18FTIERE - G EEBIENE
BHERBREBEE LS ERNEEGEMRRNEEET
b - FEEEE R D ERNBERREN L - RIBEERE
BEETHEHAEESE ERNELEONXASFZERAENK
AXHUNAATE RELHES(RENELEER)RETE -
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° Discussing with management and independent
qualified professional valuer including:

. HERERE L AERNEEMEMNG - 85

— the credit quality of the customers, such as
past default history, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern; and

— EPHNEEHEE MBEMENEL  BRESW
MELHEERN &

— the provision rates, internal credit ratings,
historical default rates and forward-looking

information
—  BER IBERFTSR BLELHERMATEERE
B

o

° Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity;
and

. SHEE A ERH TR ERS - BE N MEEN
K

° Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the

aging analysis of trade receivables.
. AR SOUREE 5 e Wk TR BR iR 9 T SR HE 1L -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Htt &
BERREEHEMENEE - RENBREFR
FrEER  ETBREE PRSP HERER X
EGTE S

EEMGEMBREABRNERL TREEME
o BEZUTHZFEMERBEREAT AL

s 17% 4 EA
R o

BiRAMBHRERE  EENAEEDHHELME
B Wi @iERE R EEMENESREEA
MBBRABESNEATHATHENBENEANTH
7o BUFFEERERRL - EREEFE K
NI MESERAZFEMENFEERAR
Bt - BEEEAREZFTE - BUME  BFLE
EfaRE

EENTEAIRGEUBRRA
EENEE

BERRERAAERBEEEGIMASRMANE
B IRE LR R EE D AP 85 AR E 4R R
HERAFOGEAMBRE  YHEREEEAY
BETFEEARER M (T im BN GEFEEERR)
AN EHRAMSBLENNMENASE

BRESUBRRE  EFBENME EXEF
B THEERBATHREESERLE
BRENER UREAFECERSTER K
HEFEER EXEBRIFILLE  HFIE
HibBERHBERIER -

TEALTRARER BXEMBHRSES -

2021 3R /| BABERERERAT 81



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

REMREBENGEMBHRRABAKIE
NEFE

s HEERAKBEKESTERNBEMLE
Hagwm o RBAEDRNETBRE  EER
BHFERESFENKIFTAABNERNTEEN -
femrl e EHY BERENFELEE
EEBARE MREZERARFEEAT
HEN  RAEUEERBMBRETRAR
REIBGAMBERRPOBERE - B
EREENEETR  MESREHRIFE
REER - BEENEWEERNRBM®RE
HIFPAEUS B EETRE - AT RKEIR
HENTTLEN BRETRESELE -

o  FHERAMBHERMERINEBIRN B8
MAR  BREEE UAREEMBHRRE
BAFRMRZZMER -

e 3 EREEARERAEXBLIHNMBKE
HMERTEDEENENRE  ABRAH
BHRERBERER -BFEAAEREE EE
ERTERENRT TE - BFEAREEH
FEiERAERHEE -

BEETE AL (RFBE)FET TIEN 88

ERNEZHBEARBEANEAER(BEEERN
FETEAE R 69 R EB R B A E R ERPE ) AT
B

EMMETEATRIENR  FAEZDETE
Eﬁ?’ﬁ_L&E’JLm;&JZ WP A IR AT BE
FEESNBEIMNBRREMCERMERERE
P EREX B 1T Bh S P 8 A RO MRS 5 3 (QniE ) B2 &
EERMARER

2021 3R / BB ERERAT 83



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Liao Yik Lam.

Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Liao Yik Lam
Practicing Certificate Number P6630
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEaRAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE20215F 12 A1 BILEE

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt FHET FHET

Revenue Wz 5 125,707 92,821
Cost of sales $HE AR (115,405) (76,817)
Gross profit EF 10,302 16,004
Other income HABUA 7 212 894
Other gains and (losses), net Hupes & (B518) F58 8 (7,995) 779
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO IERXZ (1,783) (5,296)
Administrative expenses TR (8,089) (8,600)
Finance costs EA ISR 9 (825) (570)
(Loss)/profit before tax BELAT (E51R), SR F 10 (8,178) 3,211
Income tax expenses FT5FiR 11 (511) (660)

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FR(ER),HEH R

(expenses)/income for the year 2HE (X)W eE (8,689) 2,551
HK cents HK cents

AL L

(Loss)/earnings per share — basic Gk (E18),/&8F — £4 14 (8.69) 2.55
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &
As at 31 December 2021
©2021F12 431 H

2021 2020
2021 fF 2020 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
MaE FHET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRE 15 26,687 27,860
Intangible assets B EE 16 5,583 6,583
Deposits b 18 66 67
32,336 34,510
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories VR 17 - 838
Trade and other receivables, 5 R HEAMEWFOE -
prepayments and deposits A RIE RiRE 18 70,655 54,623
Tax recoverable =R 1,562 1,708
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 19 1,714 6,046
73,931 63,215
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Trade and other payables B 5 N H e IE 20 16,162 7,195
Contract liabilities X ON=Er- 21 585 102
Bank borrowings RITRER 22 34,440 32,320
51,187 39,617
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 22,744 23,598
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 55,080 58,108
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MR R R

As at 31 December 2021

2021412 A31H

2021 2020
20214 2020 £
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bat FHxT FHEIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBES
Bank borrowings AT 22 5,632 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEEE 23 591 562
6,223 562
NET ASSETS BEEFHE 48,857 57,546
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRRHE
Share capital [N 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves i 38,857 47,546
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY REER 48,857 57,546

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 167 were $85E =167 B4 & MM &= 2 M 20224 3
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and were A 25 A& EEE@ AT - BERUTEERERE
signed on its behalf by: F

Ko Sin Yun Ko Man Ho
= #EED =308

2021 3R / BABERERERAT 87



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

Reserves
1]
Share Share Other  Translation Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* profits* equity
R B BE Hits BERE* RERH* ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TER FAR TAET TET
(note 24) (note below)
(PirsE24) (RLATMEE)
As at 1 January 2020 P202061 18 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 124,565 62,495
Profit and total comprehensive R FI & 2 Bl A%
income for the year - - - - 2,551 2,551
Dividends (note 13) R & (ME13) - - - - (7,500) (7,500)
As at 31 December 2020 M2020F12 A31A K
and 1 January 2021 2021F1A1H 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 119,616 57,546
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FRE1E Kk 2 E RS 2%
expenses for the year - - - - (8,689) (8,689)
As at 31 December 2021 R2021E12831H 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 110,927 48,857

Note:

The amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately
HK$38,857,000 (2020:HK$47,546,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The amount represents the deemed distribution arising from issue of
financial guarantee to related companies prior to the listing of the
Company in 2018 (the “Listing”). Prior to the Listing of the Company,
the Group has provided financial guarantee to companies controlled by
Mr. Murray Ko and his spouse. Mr. Murray Ko is the brother of Mr. Ko
Sin Yun, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Such financial
guarantee was measured at its fair value at initial recognition based on
the credit spread (including the assumption on probability of default and
recovery ratio) and the maximum exposure of the facility to the Group at
that time of recognising the financial guarantee liability. The fair value of
financial guarantee liability at initial recognition was recognised in other
reserve of equity as deemed distribution to the shareholder, and the
financial guarantee liability was measured at the higher of: () the amount
of obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument (‘HKFRS 9”))/the
amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9
(since 1 January 2018); and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policy of the Company at that time. All
financial guarantee liability was released upon the Listing.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 4F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
(Loss)/profit before tax MR (E51R), SR F (8,178) 3,211
Adjustments for: LT SIBREL AR
Depreciation of property, Y BREMERETE
plant and equipment 1,180 1,178
Amortisation of intangible assets m A ER 1,000 1,000
Net change in allowance for expected B REWFHIETB a8 R E
credit losses for trade receivables ) FRE 8,340 66
Finance costs ISR AR 825 570
Bad debts written off in respect of WEEE 5 e W IE IR
trade receivables - 135
Interest income B A - (1)
Operating cash flows before movements LEECERYNKERENE
in working capital 3,167 6,159
Decrease in inventories FERL 838 1,966
Increase in trade and other receivables, E 5 REAMAEWGRIE « B8
prepayments and deposits RIRE N (24,346) (46,802)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H At FE - FRIEHE AN 8,967 4,936
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEEENChd) 483 (2,124)
Cash used in operations REFRMBRS (10,891) (35,869)
Income tax paid B FTER (335) (2,512)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHMAREER
ACTIVITIES (11,226) (38,377)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Advance to ultimate holding company EES TSl L ONEIEAE (26) (13)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB %% - BiFE &R (7) -
Interest received 2HFE - 1
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REFBFAREFE
ACTIVITIES (33) (12)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021%F 12 A1 BILEE

2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TERx FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE
New bank borrowings raised MEBRITER 142,014 85,434
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER (134,262) (63,454)
Interest paid EAFE (825) (570)
Dividends paid BEABRE - (7,500)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METBMEESFHE
ACTIVITIES 6,927 13,910
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRESEEWRD FEHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,332) (24,479
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNBRSRBESEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,046 30,525
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERRERESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, RTTHESR RIEE 25
represented by Bank balances and cash 1,714 6,046
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

1.

GENERAL

Vision International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 19 January 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands and its shares were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 4 May 2018. The Company’s immediate and ultimate
holding company is Metro Vanguard Limited (“Metro
Vanguard”), a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with limited liability. The ultimate
controlling party of Metro Vanguard is Mr. Ko Sin Yun (“Mr.
Ko”, the “Controlling Shareholder”) who is also the executive
director of the Company. The addresses of the Company’s
registered office and principal place of business are 3/F, China
United Plaza, 1002-1008 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha
Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are sales of apparel and related
products with the provision of supply chain management
services and provision of agency services for construction and
related materials.

The Company’s functional currency is United States Dollars
(“US$”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company. For the convenience of the financial
statements users, the directors of the Company consider that
presenting the consolidated financial statements in HK$ is
preferable as the Company’s shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis
for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets,
financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements
and the related disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (‘HKFRS 7”).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has certain bank borrowings,
the interest of which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or
may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. As at 31
December 2021, the total amounts of these outstanding
contracts amounted to HK$9,345,000.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has been
transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year.
The Group will apply the practical expedient in relation to the
changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest
rate benchmark reform for such bank borrowings measured at
amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required by HKFRS 7
are set out in note 28.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and

EREEMBREREAN(ER
PR 2R ) BB RT A ()

E 28 5 18 15 R £ R & 7B W 7%
RN FTE] R RIERT A
7R 3 AR T A AT B AR (R R

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet A B R S R R AT E R B ET

effective: PN

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related BRABRE R R REH

Amendments ° F17H EHES

Amendments to Reference to Conceptual Framework 2 BREMBREER PRI RIER
HKFRS 3 EREACHE)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between BAMBRSEANZ 0L RAZRABEAT)
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or BRERTRAIE28% AaEERZHH
HKAS 28 Joint Venture * CHES) BELERHE"

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or EAETEAER BREN BRI
HKAS 1 Non-current and the related (BT ) FRBREERE

amendments to Hong Kong £55% (2020F)

Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of 2IIBHREN

Financial Statements — Classification REEA

by the Borrower of a Term Loan - ERAERE

that Contains a Repayment on RERERHETN

Demand Clause ® THETHHE?
EEGTENZ1HE SHBRNEE®

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies ®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®
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Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEGHRAR 125 E-REMELRE
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HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a (:1%) AR
Single Transaction ® N gﬁwgs 4
Amendments to Property, plant and Equipment: ARG RAIR 165 mx - BB R
x N /8 xhH
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use 2 (f57%) R e s0R?
Sk @ LR 55 37 B EA4) — BT
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling G - APRAIRST R B zq AT
HKAS 37 a Contract 2 (EaT%) AHmA?
Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions %'5%'@"7{ BREFAF6H  2021F6A30AK
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021 (E5T) COVID-1975
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HKFRSs

2018-2020 cycle ?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all these new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group as a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
as an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
before that good is transferred to a customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable the taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
cost of completion and cost necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. All of the Group’s financial assets are
subsequently measured at amortised costs.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).

For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances, which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group under the contract and the cashflows
that the Group expects to receive, with the consideration
of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

° A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

° The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

o It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss
if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status and

° Nature, size and industry of debtors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and other
payables and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable
including forward-looking information that is available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition, trade
receivables with credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 28 and 18, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

5.

REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers
value of amounts received and receivabl
apparel and related products with the prov
management services to customers an

represents the fair
e from the sales of
ision of supply chain
d agency fee from

construction and related materials by the Group.

Timing of revenue recognition an
revenue

d category of

Wy 2
KEBEFPAHERREARERZTPREHEM
ERERRBMELREMEFERHEE
B BB B MR TR A B 2 EE T AR R M R Y
REBHRFE-

W s M SR B ] M W e 9 48

2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Recognised at a point in time and T 5 I PRy [T B R A8 B & A0 FERR
short-term contracts:
Sales of apparel and related products SHE AR M ARRE E W R IR
with the provision of supply chain HEHEIE RS
management services 124,658 91,895
Agency fee from construction and EENEEMENRIES
related materials 1,049 926
125,707 92,821
The customers of the Group are mainly the: AEEBNEFPETESL

(i) apparel and related products sourcing agents in Europe,

Macau and Hong Kong

(i)  construction and related materials
South East Asia.

sourcing agents in

All of the Group’s sales of apparel and related products and

construction and related materials are pro
customers.

Contracts with the Group’s customers are f

vided directly to the

ixed-price contracts.

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less. As

permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to

these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. W&
Timing of revenue recognition and category of W 2 e R B ] M e 70 8 ()
revenue (Continued)
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s T RIRE @ ok RS 48 B & 51 AN 5 B A9 M =
revenue by product or service category. FR#H o
2021 2020
2021 % 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAET
Apparel and related products BR %% R AHBE E M
Knitwear AL 120,752 82,324
T-shirts T 3,272 4,170
Woven B4 634 3,457
Others At - 1,944
124,658 91,895
Construction and related materials EEREEME 1,049 926
125,707 92,821
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s TEiEEPEEEHI AEB KR o
revenue by customer type.
2021 2020
2021 F 20204F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHT
Apparel and related products PR3 R ABBAE @
Apparel sourcing agent AREEERBE I8 124,658 67,791
Boutique shop R E - 20,401
Department store BEARQA - 3,703
124,658 91,895
Construction and related materials BERHEBME
Construction materials sourcing agent M PHREE R IR 1,049 926
125,707 92,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s operating segment is determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) of the Group, being the executive directors of the
Company throughout the year, for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
commenced the business relating to the provision of agency
services for construction and related materials along with the
incorporation of a subsidiary, and it is considered as a new
operating and reportable segment by the CODM for that year.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

1. Sales of apparel and related products with the provision
of supply chain management services (“Apparel
Products”); and

2. Provision of agency services for construction and related
materials (“Construction Materials”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE20215F 12 A1 BILEE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. «<|&&/'\:\‘z|3 )

7B e K R AR
REBENK R REER 2RI BTN
T

BZ2021 12831 BLLFEE

Apparel Construction
Products Materials Consolidated
BREEE m EEMH Foe)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHExT FET
Segment revenue 7B R
External sales HINEE 124,658 1,049 125,707
Segment profit/(loss) DEBRF] (EE) 4,160 (3,049) 1,111
Unallocated other gains R Bl E At U s % B 185 58
and losses, net 345
Unallocated corporate general &% B A 7] — 1T X
administrative expenses (8,809)
Finance costs EA SR AR (825)
The Group’s loss before tax REBERKRTAIEE (8,178)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. RKEFE@
Segment revenues and results (Continued) 7 BB R B AR ()
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F 1231 HIEEE
Apparel Construction
Products Materials Consolidated
BREEEm BEMH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Segment revenue 7B
External sales HONHE 91,895 926 92,821
Segment profit 205 F) 10,600 855 11,455
Unallocated other income ROBHEAMUA 487
Unallocated other gains AP B E MU S 18R
and losses, net 980
Unallocated corporate general kB2~ &) — 1T
administrative expenses (9,141)
Finance costs B TSR AR (570)
The Group’s profit before tax 7 8= B[ 51 AT A 3,211

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of government grant, net foreign exchange
difference, central general administration costs, directors’
emoluments and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

6.

Segment assets and liabilities PAN-
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities T AAREEKR2021F12 31 BIEA 2
by reportable segments as at 31 December 2021: WAFE M EERBEDT
2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Segment assets DEEE
Apparel Products BRI E m 61,633 21,542
Construction Materials BEMK 14,489 40,107
Total reportable segment assets AI2MmMo A EERTE 76,122 61,649
Corporate and other unallocated assets A& R HMADREE 30,145 36,076
Consolidated assets IREEE 106,267 97,725
Segment liabilities PHEE
Apparel Products AR an 13,366 2,657
Construction Materials EEMR 2,190 1,349
Total reportable segment assets AIE2RD I EELRE 15,556 4,006
Corporate and other unallocated assets A7) & Efth kD Al & & 41,854 36,173
Consolidated liabilities FEBE 57,410 40,179

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than

partial of property, plant and equipment, deposits, other

receivables, prepayment, tax recoverable and bank and

cash balances which were managed in a centralised

manner.

o All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than partial of other payables, certain bank borrowings
and deferred tax liabilities which were managed in a

centralised manner.

BREbDME  MEERE e H
fib FEYRIR - TR IR - TR AR IR
REIEIN -

IARIRITRIRE MR A
FBEEANRERLED

BrEby b FIR - ETRITEE
HEEH

KB ARBENEF
FERBEINREEKED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. #

K& D ()

H i 5 &+

BZ2021 12831 BLLEE

Total
Apparel Construction reportable
Products Materials segments Unallocated Consolidated
CES:]
REER BEMNR DEAE AOE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET TET THT THT
Amount included in the measure 5t AP Ei1EF S A E
of segment profit or loss or HEMSE
segment assets:
Amortisation of intangible assets & & £ 4 1,000 - 1,000 - 1,000
Net changes in allowance for & ZENFUEEEEE
expected credit losses for EREEEE
trade receivables 4,242 4,098 8,340 - 8,340
Amount regularly provided to the E#im & BELRF Hidt
CODM but notincluded inthe  BRE ADEEZHHE
measure of segment profitor  BEEHFUE :
loss or segment assets:
Net foreign exchange gain [E 5 a5 - - - (345) (345)
Depreciation of property, nE - BERIENE
plant and equipment - - - 1,180 1,180
Directors’ emoluments EEHE - - - 2,347 2,347
Finance costs BN - - - 825 825
Income tax expenses Gitciaba - - - 511 511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. K&
Other segment information (Continued) Hith o 2PE R} ()
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZEZ2020F 1231 HIEEE
Total
Apparel  Construction reportable
Products Materials segments  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
BES:
kREm BEMH ok Fke ZNl wa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET FHBT FET

Amount included in the measure st AD 2pEF D HEE

of segment profit or loss or HEMNEE:

segment assets:
Amortisation of intangible assets & & £ 4 1,000 - 1,000 - 1,000
Net change in allowance for B RNFBRSEE

expected credit losses for EEREZEFE

trade receivables 22 44 66 - 66
Bad debts written off for B S IENGRIB M S IR

trade receivables 135 - 136 - 135
Amount regularly provided to the FEEiR T 2L HRFK E1R(H

CODM but notincluded inthe  ERFFADEERS D E

measure of segment profitor  BEHEIE -

loss or segment assets:
Government grant BUFHED - - - 486 486
Bank interest income TR EWA - - - 1 1
Net foreign exchange gain G ] - - - (980) (980)
Depreciation of property, mE - BERZETE

plant and equipment - - - 1,178 1,178
Directors’ emoluments ExWe - - - 2,312 2,312
Finance costs BARS AL AR - - - 570 570
Income tax expenses iy - - - 660 660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. K&
Geographical information Hh 2 &
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong. REBEBEBEEMNES -
The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue from TRV AEBIZWEUEE D 2P
customers by geographical location of customers: o
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Apparel Products BR%EE m
Hong Kong B 51,923 11,183
Germany = 37,008 64,474
Macau JRPY 35,626 6,432
France = 101 5,107
Switzerland i - 2,488
Austria B i F| - 2,211
124,658 91,895
Construction Materials EEME
Cambodia RIH3E 1,049 926
125,707 92,821
The following table sets forth non-current assets (excluding HEEMBMNEEYHERESEE (TBIE
deposits) by geographical location: Be)FENT
2021 2020
2021 fF 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong a5 26,687 27,860
Germany = 5,583 6,583
32,270 34,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. RKEDZHw)
Information about major customers BHEFEREFPHER
Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of ERME AR EEMREFEWZR10% A LR
the Group’s revenue of the corresponding year are as follows: Pz :
2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Customer A* 25 A 35,626 *
Customer B* ZE B 33,839 28,234
Customer C* EFPC 33,312 *
Customer D* =B DY 18,612 11,183
Customer E* =5 Et * 22,064
* The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the * MBENKSEANEBRNZETHEIB10%

Group’s revenue.

# Revenue from Apparel Products segment. # RERREEMRD B ES o
7. OTHER INCOME 7. EAKA
2021 2020
2021 fF 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Sample sales income EmEE A 212 407
Government grant (note below) BT B (B AT ) - 486
Bank interest income RITH BULA - 1
212 894
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised st : HE2020F 12 A1 HILFE » AEER
government grants of HK$486,000 relating to Employment AR BUITRE R R T SRR AT B
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government, which 486,000/ 7T » BlCovid-1948RBA#I 8L » B
is Covid-19-related subsidies. Government grants in respect of 8 Covid-19 MR BL A BT f Bh A AN 52 [
the Covid-19-related subsidies were recognised at the time the A B ER R (2021 F « ) o

Group fulfilled the relevant granting criteria (2021: nil).
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e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. Hth=mRkEEFHE
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Net change in allowance for expected ZZ R FIETEREEEEEH
credit losses for trade receivables S E) R (8,340) (66)
Net foreign exchange gain SN L 25 ) F BE 345 980
Bad debts written off in respect of LB 5 e R IE N I ER
trade receivables - (135)
(7,995) 779
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BRI
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITERAE 825 570
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

10.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRBLAT (B58), &7
(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: BrFLAT (E18), 5 R B A T & B %
ER
2021 2020
2021 5 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Employee benefit expenses EE =M
— Directors’ remuneration (note 12) — EEHM(HFE12) 2,347 2,312
— Other staff costs — Hib BT pA
— Salaries and other benefits — TEREAMBET 1,470 2,049
— Performance related bonus — BRURRAIEAL - -
— Retirement benefit scheme — RUNEFIEF MK
contributions 64 87
3,881 4,448
Auditor’s remuneration ZERET BN & 400 400
Depreciation of property, Y - BENREITE
plant and equipment 1,180 1,178
Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 1,000 1,000
Bad debts written off in respect of T 5 B M S R
trade receivable - 135
Net change in allowance for expected B S EWGRIATE B E B R 18R
credit losses for trade receivables BEFEE 8,340 66
Cost of inventories recognised as cost RAHEEXANFERA
of sales 115,405 76,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 1. FIBHHAxX

2021 2020
2021 §F 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBIT

Hong Kong Profits Tax: BBNEH
— Current year — AEE 490 692
— Over-provision in prior years — BAEFEBEEE 8) 62)
Deferred taxation (note 23) IRIERE B (M 5E23) 29 30
511 660

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 1. FiB88iBE @
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit FARERS JEREEGEZMEM2EY
before tax per the consolidated statements of profit or loss and AT AT (E518), SR T BRI T -

other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BRALAT (E518) s A (8,178) 3,211
Tax at the applicable Hong Kong Profits 1% Ff & & FI 5 B & (16.5%)
Tax rates (16.5%) FHEHTIE (1,349) 530
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBIM AR TG 2 2
for tax purposes - (80)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR RIS 2
for tax purposes 1,963 437
Qver-provision in prior years WA ®) 62)
Income tax at concessionary rate R Ge TR TSR (95) (165)
Income tax expenses for the year FRAEFRASL 511 660
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e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EE - FTETBRAEREEM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS &
(@) Directors’ and the chief executive’s @ EZEELTETHAENE
emoluments
The remuneration paid or payable to the directors of the B ERAATES 2 FHMMT -

Company were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021F12A31HIEEE

Contributions
Salaries Performance to retirement

and other related benefits

Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
FeR gl RIKER

ne HitEH HEREA STEIMR st

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR FER TR TER TER

Executive directors HITES

Ko Sin Yun =Lzl 288 - - 14 302

Ko Man Ho X E - 841 - 18 859

Cheng Ka Wing BEL - 808 - 18 826
288 1,649 - 50 1,987

Independent non- BUFHTES

executive directors

To King Yan, Adam HELC 120 - - - 120

Chan Kim Sun R | 2% 120 - - - 120

Kwok Chee Kin HER 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
648 1,649 - 50 2,347
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e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

(@)

12. EE - TETHAEREEM

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) cAC )
Directors’ and the chief executive’s @ EFEKFETHRAEMS
emoluments (Continued) (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F 12 A31 AILFE
Contributions
Salaries  Performance  to retirement
and other related benefits
Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
Hek B RIRIEF
e HAiEH B BES oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TET FEL TET
Executive directors HITES
Ko Sin Yun SE 288 - - 14 302
Ko Man Ho BXE - 806 - 18 824
Cheng Ka Wing Bk - 808 - 18 826
288 1,614 - 50 1,952
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
To King Yan, Adam HREC 120 - - - 120
Chan Kim Sun R | 2% 120 - - - 120
Kwok Chee Kin BER 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
648 1,614 - 50 2,312

Mr. Ko Man Ho is the chief executive of the Company.

The chief executive’s and executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and its

subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the

Company.

BRI ERARBITRARH, -
EXFIREBITHAB RAITESMH

SPHREERAATRAMBAT
(EE ) TR ©

EXFRRBIIERITEEME TR E
ERARRERH RGN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2020: two) directors of the Company
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2020: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

12. EE - T ETHAERESM
cAC )

(b)

ham=HHEENBS
REE  AEEREESTHIES S
AR R B E20204F 2021 F 12
A31BIEFERIMAE (20205 © W4)
EE - AFEHB=H(2020F : =
F)mmFiES GERRARESR
FETBAB)NEBFBOT

2021 2020

2021 4 2020 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERx FHET

Salaries and other benefits e REmER 1,183 1,111

Performance related bonuses EBURBIEA - -
Retirement benefit scheme RIREF T8I R

contributions 49 43

1,232 1,154

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

WIARBEENRHHEE AR
o EFBER A TEE

2021 2020
2021 20204
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 7T 3 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company or the chief
executive of the Group or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
waived any emoluments during the year. There was no
arrangement under which a director or the chief executive
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. KR
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of RERERED RO ARD T
the Company recognised as distribution 3 A% i% 58 A I8,
during the year
2020: Nil (2019 Final: HK$0.0075 20204 : #& (2019 F R H :
per share (before share consolidation)/ HH20.0075% T
HK$0.075 per share (after consolidation))  (A&{p &A1), &% 0.07578 7T
(&0H&)) - 7,500

14.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021, nor
has any dividend been prepared since the end of the reporting
period (2020: nil).

HZ2021F12A31HIEFE > HERA
NAIEBEREIRSSEFZRGTRE - 8
RS HAR DA PR In 8 R BT frT A% 8. (2020 FF -
&) o

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BR (E51) BF
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based FRER(EE) BRI IDEA L T&EE
on the following data: g
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHIT
(Loss)/earnings: (E588) BA
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of ARFTHEGRER (F18),/ BT
calculating basic (loss)/earnings ® (E518), & F|
per share ((loss)/profit for the year) (FAR(ER),S5F) (8,689) 2,551
’000 ‘000
TR Fh&
Number of shares: BROEE :

Weighted average number of ordinary ARstE SR ERZT R T @A

shares for the purpose of calculating I EE
basic earnings per share

100,000 100,000

No diluted earnings per share for both years were presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding for both
years.

BRMEFEAGEEIABEERITENE

B BMREFESELSREGRT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021%F 12 A1 BILEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y%  BERRE

Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold and office
building improvement equipment Total
HELTH# HEWE ElR
kigF #15 NG @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2020 and R2020F 1 A1E K
31 December 2020 202012 A31 H 29,877 210 594 30,681
Accumulated depreciation Z3HiTE
As at 1 January 2020 20201 A1H 1,299 18 326 1,643
Charge for the year FAMAL 1,039 20 119 1,178
As at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12 A31 H 2,338 38 445 2,821
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2020 2020412 A31 H 27,539 172 149 27,860
Cost A
As at 1 January 2021 n2021F1A1H 29,877 210 594 30,681
Additions nNE - - 7 7
As at 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 29,877 210 601 30,688
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE
As at 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 2,338 38 445 2,821
Charge for the year FRRX 1,039 21 120 1,180
As at 31 December 2021 72021 F12 A31 H 3,377 59 565 4,001
Net book value BRERE
As at 31 December 2021 202112 31 H 26,500 151 36 26,687
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BER®KE @®

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are

L - BERREBEE DEFRAT

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per LE R EGEEITINE -

annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of FETHREF RERT i
remaining land lease HEFHA

Leasehold improvement 10% HEWERE 10%

Computer and office equipment 20% B AR 20%

As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land and building of the
Group with carrying value of approximately HK$26,500,000
(2020: HK$27,539,000) were pledged with a bank to secure a
loan (note 22) granted to the Group.

R2021F12A31H - AEBEERA AL
26,500,00078 7T (20204 : 27,539,000 7
70) A E i REFEA T —MRT - MU
B TASBRNER (FizE22) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. BEEE

Trademarks
EiE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost AR
As at 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020, 202051 A1H 202012 A31 8 »
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 20211 A1 8 Kk2021F12 431 H 10,000
Amortisation #eH
As at 1 January 2020 ®2020F1 A1H 2,417
Charge for the year FRRZ 1,000
As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2020912 A 31 B & 202141 81H 3,417
Charge for the year FARE 1,000
As at 31 December 2021 R 2021F12 431 H 4,417
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2021 R2021 12 A31H 5,583
As at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12 A31H 6,583

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the

following periods:

LB EEAGARERFH - ZEE
TREERIATHRE LB SR -

Trademarks 10 years L 104F
17. INVENTORIES 17. F&
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finished goods in transit TEIERMK 838
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RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

18. EZRHMEBWRE  BNAXK

PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS HEkESE
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Trade receivables =)l &/ e 70,931 20,301
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEREE (8,406) (66)
62,525 20,235
Other receivables H A e U FRIE 49 5,422
Rental and utilities deposits ) SUNSEE 31750 66 67
Trade deposits paid (note below) BNESERE (RATHE) 8,015 28,594
Prepayments a8 66 372
70,721 54,690
2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERx FH&T
Analysed as: DT :
— Non-current assets — IERBEE 66 67
— Current assets — mBEE 70,655 54,623
70,721 54,690

Note: Trade deposits paid represented 30% prepayment to the
suppliers related to sales of apparel and related products with
the provision of supply chain management services.

MizE : BENEZiESEREER SN EBIHER
%= RAARAE RERR B HEEREEREN
30% TEfTFRIA °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued) HRES @)
The Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery of AEBBERRRINEYBEE2EEETHE DR
goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30 days upon AXNEMBTZHNIOKRNEESR BT
delivery of goods, except that the Group allows credit period of ETEFR ALERLBARNEWRIT
Z R 180 AHIEE?

18. EZRHEMBURIE - AR

no longer than 180 days upon delivery of goods for certain
customers.

NTAREEEAREZAHE2IHEER
BB H S 5 B YRR R R . 0 T W INRR &

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables of the
Group for credit losses, if any presented based on the invoice

dates and net of loss allowance: B
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FETT

Trade receivables B SR WA

0 to 30 days 0E 30K 1,127 6,705
31 to 60 days 31 260K 6,562 5,363
61 to 90 days 61 290K 10,962 1,169
Over 90 days 90 KM F 43,874 6,998
62,525 20,235

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the EEWNEMHEFPA » AEBFEEBE

potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The majority of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no
history of defaulting on repayments.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables
and measures the lifetime ECL on each debtor individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using
provision matrix within lifetime ECL.

18. EZREMBURIE - AR

EHREZEE @
EAEAEEEERBREEN —I5 AL
EFAEEARRATIHEZEORE
REAZERFEEAEAE LRARAR S
B NARE  ZEFRBNREREFRBRES
WER T B R BHFIEREE S - TRIE
HEBEZERUFENEERRER - %
:I?ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁléﬁgWﬂﬁﬁﬁ
IR SRR ELERT Y o

Gross carrying amount H4E
2021
2021 F

Average Trade
loss rate receivables
FHERE BIZRENE
HK$°000
FET
Current (not past due) BUER (R E) 1.6% 39,264
1 to 30 days past due BHEI1E30H 4.1% 8,173
31 to 60 days past due wHA31E60H 17.0% 5,019
61 to 90 days past due #EI61 =90 H 29.6% 15,394
More than 90 days past due B HEAERIBO0 H 66.0% 3,081
70,931
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

18.

EZNHMEKRRRE  BAR
HRIRE (@)

Gross carrying amount (Continued) AREAR(E ()
2020
20204

Average Trade
loss rate receivables
BB E 5 W RIE
HK$'000
FET
Current (not past due) BIER (R E) 0.1% 16,628
1 to 30 days past due #MAR1E=30H 0.2% 3,647
31 to 60 days past due BHEI31E£60H 0.7% 13
61 to 90 days past due #HEI61 £90H 1.3% 1
More than 90 days past due B AREE A0 H 46.5% 112
20,301

For the year ended 31 December 2020, HK$135,000 was
written off as uncollectible (2021: nil).

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 18. EFREMERRIE - AR
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued) EPSEEAC )
Gross carrying amount (Continued) [EECUERE
Movements in the allowance for credit losses for trade B RKFBEEBEREEHNT
receivables are as follows:
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
As at 1 January ®W1A1H 66 -
Net change in allowance for TEAEE B E R B 8 F5E
expected credit losses 8,340 66
As at 31 December »12 A31H 8,406 66

As at 31 December 2020, the balance of other receivables
included receivable of trade deposit refund from a supplier
amounted to approximately HK$5,399,000 (2021: nil).

As at 31 December 2021, included in the other receivables, an
amount of HK$35,000 (2020: HK$9,000) and HK$14,000
(2020: HK$14,000) represents receivables from the ultimate
holding company and a related company of the Group. The
maximum amounts outstanding of receivable from the ultimate
holding company and a related company of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are approximately
HK$35,000 and HK$15,000, respectively (2020: approximately
of HK$23,000 and HK$14,000, respectively). The related
companies are under common control of an executive director
of the Group. The amounts are non-trade in nature,
denominated in HKS, interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

R2020F12 A31 B » H b fE I 5118 45 4
BREERHEETINE IR ERY
5,399,000 7T (2021 4F : #8) o

202112 A31 8 - EfEKKIBEIE
R L 7 £ B A 4 R AR R I BB 1 R FRIA
35,000/ JT(20204F : 9,000/ 7T ) K&
14,0007 7T (2020 4F : 14,0008 7T) - HZE
2021F 12 AT HIEFERNERAEE &
BERAR BB AR REEREES S
HE 5 R4 /35,0007 7T & 15,0004 7T (2020
F 5 B #923,000/% 7T & 14,0008 7T ) °
ZHRB AR AERE —BRITESREE
Bl o ZHEBIIFESMUEG - LUBITEE
e EBERREREREER

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 18. ES R HMEIWFNIE - B
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued) EHRERE @)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) AREAR(E ()
Trade and other receivables and deposits denominated in LR EEEENIEEE UINEETE
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant MBS N E M ERGIE MRS H T
group entities are set out below:
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
EUR BT 56 113
RMB AR 7,112 -
HK$ BT 181 -
19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19. (RITHEBRERERS
Bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other than VAR & B E B8 KR AR DD e & HE LA

the functional currency of the relevant group entities and the
Company are set out below:

ERIENRITHEBLBESEINAT

2021 2020

20215 2020 F

HK$’000 HK$000

FHERT FET

EUR BT 85 445
HKS$ BT 611 1,140
RMB AR 15 102

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant as the Group only transacts with
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies. Details of impairment
assessment of bank balances for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2021 are set out in note 28.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. EZRHMEMARE
2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Trade payables B 5 e IE 14,971 3,540
Accrued expenses FEETAX 722 565
Other payables Hfth FET /I 469 3,090
16,162 7,195

The credit period on purchase of goods is no longer than 30
days. The ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of each

BEEMNEEHRATZRIOR - RER
HHR  AEERBRZEARZIINESHE
NFIBRE ST

reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020

2021 F 2020 fF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TERx FHET

0 to 30 days 0ZE30K 5,483 2,796
31 to 60 days 31E260XK 1,264 166
Over 91 days 91 KM E 8,224 578
14,971 3,540

Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

RSB BRI ERAINERETIE
MBS R EA BN FOREIN T

below.
2021 2020
2021 §F 2020 £
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
EUR B 7T 178 2,149
HK$ BT 831 639
RMB AR # 2,436 2,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. AR
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Short-term advances received B &P U AR BREK
from customers:
— Sales of apparel products with — IREERHE LI
the provision of supply chain HEEE IR IR
management services 585 102
When the Group receives a deposit before the control of the HMAEERREEDNIZHIRERERPD
apparel products are passed to the customers, this will give rise IR EITFEZR B A BERA L EME
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the control of 4 BEERRERNZEHEEEEEPR
the apparel products is passed to the customers and revenue EHEREE AR WA
of the respective contracts are recognised.
All contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the BHMEENEERRNAEEEEEER
Group’s normal operating cycle and the Group’s contract HREN  mMAEENSEHNaERERAE
liabilities are classified as current liabilities based on the Group'’s MEFEEFRARENEEEEDIE
earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to the BRBEE -
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

22. BANK BORROWINGS 22, RITER
2021 2020
2021 % 20204F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Trust receipt loans BEFEUBRE R 24,971 22,285
Mortgage loan R\BER 9,345 10,035
Term loan TFTHEX 5,756 -
40,072 32,320
Analysed as: DT :
— Secured bank borrowings — BIEAIRITEK 34,316 32,320
— Unsecured bank borrowings — EIEFRITER 5,756 -
40,072 32,320
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings £ 15 & 55 % Fr & #y st 2
based on scheduled repayment ERAHZBRTEREREE
dates set out in the loan agreements
Within one year —FE R 25,802 22,971
More than one year, but not more than —FLAE - BETEBBRT
two years 1,481 701
More than two years, but not more than M4 ELA - ERRERF
five years 4,661 2,197
More than five years AFEU 8,128 6,451
40,072 32,320
Analysed as: DA :
Amounts due within one year shown FIRRBAEE N —FRNE S
under current liabilities and contain W B EERERKERERD
a repayment on demand clause k-] 25,802 22,971
Amounts that are not repayable within BERNREHRET—FANEE
one year from the end of the reporting BEREREREEBEINEE
period but contain a repayment on FIRREEaBEETR)
demand clause
(shown under current liabilities) 8,638 9,349
Amounts that are not repayable within one HZER & BIRET —FENEE
year from the end of the reporting period #4228 5,632 -
40,072 32,320
Less: Amounts shown under B IR RE A EE THRIE
current liabilities (34,440) (32,320)
Amounts shown under PR IERE B EIE THFIE
non-current liabilities 5,632 -
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e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

22. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

22. SRITER (&)

AEBRITERNERAT -

2021 2020

2021 & 20204

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TERx FAT

Fixed-rate borrowings (& 7E F = 55K 24,971 22,285
Variable-rate borrowing FEFEE R 15,101 10,035
40,072 32,320

The variable-rate bank borrowings carry interests at premiums
over Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) and prime
rate respectively. The effective interest rate on bank borrowings
is 1.96% (2020: 1.76%) per annum as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings of HK$34,316,000
(2020: HK$32,320,000) are secured by certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
HK$26,500,000 (2020: HK$27,539,000) (note 15).

As at 31 December 2021, included in secured bank borrowings
of HK$5,756,000 (2020: nil) are guaranteed by the HKMC
Insurance Limited under the SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme. The bank borrowings are also secured by personal
guarantee provide by an executive director of the Company.

Bank borrowings denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out

ZEFERITERD ABRIBEEBRITRZE
FE(EBRTRAERE]) REEEFE
ZOREETE - M2021E12 5318 - 817
B ERFHNEB1.96% (20204 :
1.76%) °

M2021F12A31H » REE R 1TE K

34,316,00078 7T (20204 : 32,320,000 7%

7T) B AN B R T ERE B 4 26,500,000 /8 7T

(20204 : 27,539,000/ 70) KW % - W=
BABIEEIR (H7E15) ©

202112 831 H - AEIFRITERE
55,756,000 78 7T (2020 4F : %) - B &
ZERBERARRER/PDEEBERER
ETEIRMEER - RITBRIMURLRF —F
WMITESFREMEABREER o

RSB ERNEEE AINEEIIE
EERTTRERESIAT -

below:
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
EUR BT - 2,440
RMB AR#E - 262
HKS HIT 15,101 10,035
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e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE20215F 12 A1 BILEE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

23, ELERE

Accelerated

tax Intangible

depreciation assets Total

BT BREE wEt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAT FAT

As at 1 January 2020 R 202041 A1H (59) 591 532
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss (Bt AN),/BEzEM% (1)

(note 11) (135) 165 30

As at 31 December 2020 and M2020%F 12 A31 H &

1 January 2021 20211 H1H (194) 756 562
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss (Gt AN,/ BEEHE (FME11)

(note 11) (136) 165 29

As at 31 December 2021 MR2021F12A31H (830) 921 591
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e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BRA
Details of movements of share capital of the Company are ARBMRASESFHBRELO T -
disclosed as follows:
Number of
shares  Share capital
R EE [N
HK$'000
FHT
Ordinary shares ZiER
Authorised: JETE ¢
As at 1 January 2020 (HK$0.01 each) 20201 A1 8 (#0.01%7x) 10,000,000,000 100,000
Share Consolidation (note below) MDA B (R IATRHIEE) (9,000,000,000) -
As at 31 December 2020, #K2020F12 8318 »
1 January 2021 and 20211 A1 R
31 December 2021 (HK$0.1 each) 2021412 A31H
(R mEEC1EL) 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITEREHE :
As at 1 January 2020 (HK$0.01 each) 7®2020%F1 A1 8 (&MK0.01%E) 1,000,000,000 10,000
Share Consolidation (note below) a0 (RATHIRE) (900,000,000) -
As at 31 December 2020, R2020F12 8318 »
1 January 2021 and 20211 A1H K
31 December 2021 (HK$0.1 each) 2021 F12 A 31 H
(880138 7T) 100,000,000 10,000

Notes:Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed at the extraordinary

general meeting of the Company held on 3 August 2020, the
Company implemented the share consolidation with effect from
5 August 2020 (the “Share Consolidation”), on the basis that
every ten issued and unissued existing shares of the Company of
HK$0.01 each were consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.1 each, ranked pari passu in all respects with each other.
Upon completion of the Share Consolidation, the Company’s
share capital consists of 100,000,000 consolidated shares of
HK$0.1 each.

Further details, including the above adjustment, of the Share
Consolidation were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 8 July 2020, the circular issued by the Company
dated 16 July 2020, and the poll results of the extraordinary
general meeting were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 3 August 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

25.

26.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
The Group participates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

(the “MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes the
lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of relevant payroll costs per person
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
retirement benefits schemes is to make the specified
contributions. The total amounts contributed by the Group to
the schemes and costs charged to the profit or loss represents
contributions paid or payable to the scheme by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the scheme. The retirement
benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to
HK$114,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$137,000).

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) Related party balances and transaction
with related parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any other significant outstanding balances with related
parties at the end of the reporting period and significant
transactions with related parties during the year.

Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company, being the

25.

26.

3B 1@ AT I
AEBARLHNEBLARES 2 RRH
MRS B ((REESHB]) - SHBI2E
ERAEEZEAESR  YAZAARY
ZHERE -

MEBEEFEKEMS  AERE/2MA
TeF &I E B EH 1,500 THEERHE
HERAS%NSR(ABREERE)ER
WK - MEE IMELFBHNK -

REERZERKEFAENEBENETR
EH IR E MR - AEEMZFFEED
BB R A B SR AR A S EiL
ZEETEIRBRTE L KA ZE BB AT %
ER R - B E2021F12 A31 H IF4F
- AEBELHRKERNTEHZI A
114,000 7% 7T (2020 4 : 137,00058 L) °

BRESHE

(a) FAELAERR R ERET M
R5
B A B RER M SE 18 K AR 3 R
WEEN - AR RS R L AT
fA] ELft SR8 77 B AR 1 A A A
RRFNLWABETWEARS -

b) EEEEAB KM

RFERAXRRER(EZEEEAR)

key management personnel, during the year were as HIFT AT -
follows:

2021 2020
2021 4 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Short term benefits R HIE R 2,297 2,262
Performance related bonus RN AEREIEAL - -
Post-employment benefits BERLEAEA 50 50
2,347 2,312

2021 3% / EH B R AR DR
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e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

27.

28.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. EXEKRER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group REBEBTEREER  URREE QAR
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while WIFECE  RBRELESRERT
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation & KPR Z I8 AR SR B3R - BRI B
of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy remains BEFERFIE -
unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which AEBMNEAEHEHFESAK - BIER
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 22, net of cash and TIEREERKE22) MBRRERES
cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owner of the EEUWARARTEE AEEER (BIEE
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits and BATHOR - RERE N R E A EHE) -
other reserves.
The directors of the Group review the capital structure regularly. AREBSEETFTHRFTERERE - (EA LR
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost and the S —ED EEERERKAREEE
risks associated with each class of the capital. Based on the EXRAEBENERE EREENEZ A5
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its B & mim BT BT EE NKERIR
overall capital structure through issue of new shares, issue of BESFEHEBEERGEE -
new debt and redemption of existing debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. €@ TH
Categories of financial instruments TRITEDSH
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at amortised cost R EKATTENEREE 64,354 31,770
Financial liabilities: THEE:
Financial liabilities measured at REBHEKATENSREE
amortised cost 56,234 39,515

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables and deposits, amount due from ultimate holding
company, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the

respective notes. The risks associated with these financial

instruments include market risks (currency risk and interest rate

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate

these risks are set out below. The management manages and

monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a)

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings of the Group are denominated in foreign
currencies of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently do not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

. ERIT R

ST Ao
BEZZ SR T ANFEAEEMERE -
EZZLMIAMBNRRSEN SRR

(BERREFERRE)  FERBRIRB
BeRR - BIEZERBAOBEREN T
EEESEERERZERAKRAE R
K2 5 78 UK ERGE 2 8 1B ©
(@ TERR

B

REBNETE S KA EYGK

e RITHEBEBRSD - f@’f%&ﬁﬂﬂ

ENFERRTEFASEEEER
MREEHEIIE - REEEEERINE
[z o

ZIN S \Jiﬂﬁ\\ﬁ%¥¢i¢ﬁk%ﬁ°%
i % ESROME R AR - W
REZR %Ffﬁﬁ@ij{ﬁl\%ﬂ
REREIMKR - REBEASNEFIER
EREERABRZKEELT

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHIT
Assets BE
EUR BT 141 558
HK$ BT 792 1,140
RMB AR 7,127 102
Liabilities =R
EUR BT 178 4,589
HK$ T 15,932 10,674
RMB AREE 2,436 2,462

2021 3% / EH B R AR DR
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
fluctuation of EUR, RMB and HK$ for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pledged with US$, the
Group does not expect any significant movements in the
US$/HKS exchange rates. Therefore, the following
sensitivity analysis does not include the effect between
US$ and HKS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2020: 5%) increase and decrease in foreign currencies of
EUR and RMB against US$ as at 31 December 2021.
The percentage of the sensitivity rate used represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates at the year ended. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit
where foreign currencies strengthen 5% against US$. For
a 5% weakening of foreign currencies against US$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on post tax profit.

. E@BI AW

TR ITEDE@®

(a)

miZEE (&)

AN £ B R £ 20204F K 2021 412
A31HILEEHERT ARBR
PETT I B0 SN BLBg: o

A TTHE KT - A E TR
HETHABTER TG HREMEKR
EH o At ATHRESTTEHE
KTTHB T ZHNTE

TREFHAEBPH 2021 F12 A31 B
HEUT R AR B HINE H ST IR E OB
1H5% (20204 : 5%) Y B JE » FRF
ReRE A D LLRREBRELHINEE
KR ae A R E) 2 5 - BRESNT
RERIZF R INEE K 5% ZE)
BHBE o TXIEEIEINE K ETH
E5% 8+ BREE1& & FI3E 00 o fis SMNEE
HETEBES% - SHE KRB ®ERRE
HEBHERTE -

2021 2020

2021 §F 2020 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FAT

Impact on post-tax profit of the Group ¥} 7 £2 [F 12 i 14 32 Fl 1 5 28 195 (267)
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings (see note 22 for details). The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuations of the HIBOR.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative
nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the
Group’s risk management strategy arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards
implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates are
set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this
note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year and basis points increase
or decrease is used. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates on variable-rate interest-bearing financial
liabilities had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/
increase by HK$64,000 (2020: HK$42,000).

. ERIT R

SRIASE®

(a)

i EkE (E)

= 2
AEBHEERA BT SRITRER IR
ER(FERREME2) WRERE
MEEE - AEEORSREN TR
BEEERRBBRITAERS 2K
) o

B AT 2R S T+ BN R EAEETR
AUENRE - BEKE TRITRZERE
F([RITEFEFER]) BRAEAMT
FERRAF X - NEB L AEZYIE
AEEEREENKNER  FIXRE
EREHAEERRERRBEHOTE
REREENENEEEFIEHN
ZRPHRE [ R E AR | —#f o

HBEDHT

AT SRE DT IRER & BR A A
KEMETE o MBI 2 RRN
BERARBAEENTREREEN
ERAENREFEORERL AE
FRERIE IR D - GURE DAL
BRERITHES  AEARREERRE
BB IRITAE T ELMIR
EREMNEXARPZELTEK -

HAF M I BN SR BEZ M E
BTt TR SO MEEE - T ATA H A
BERHIE AIAKEHE20214F
12 A31 B L FE ey Mg 15
7N64,00077T(20204F : 42,0004 7T) ©

2021 3% / EH B R AR DR

155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables as stated in note 18, and bank balances as

stated in note 19.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Management of the Group adopted a policy on providing
credit facilities to new customers. A credit investigation of
the customers or the ultimate customers if those
contracts allow the Group to obtain payment directly from
the ultimate customers under certain circumstance,
including assessment of financial information and advice
from business partners in relation to potential customers
would be required to be launched. The level of credit
granted must not exceed a predetermined level set by the
management. Credit evaluation is performed on a regular

basis.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as 41.7% (2020: 40.4%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest debtor. The
Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five largest
debtors accounted for 96.1% (2020: 99.9%) of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2021. For a long-
term customer and customer regarding trading of
construction materials, the Group allows a credit term of
150 days upon delivery of goods. For other customers,
the Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery
of goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30

days upon delivery of goods.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade receivables,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts
on trade receivables. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivable to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 with details disclosed in note 18.
In this regard, management of the Group considers that
the credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The Group has concentration of credit risk on its bank
balances as the entire balances as at 31 December 2021
are deposited with four (2020: three) banks. The credit
risk for bank balances is considered not material as such
amounts are placed in reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
There has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and thus the risk of default is regard as low.

For deposits, management of the Group makes periodic
as individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information starting from 1 January 2021.
The management of the Group believes that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of other receivables and deposits.

. ERIT R

SRIASE®

(b)

FERR(E)
KEEF &R E S ER R ()

REEZEREFBENEERRRE R
K AKEEEECZK—XENE
AEEEERAEE  FEHENRBRY
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RIEFF o AN AREEEEBNRE
HRBHEREHNEBEOAKRE S
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B SRYGRAEERMG ST ERER
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18- Gt E  AEEEEERA/E
SRYGRIANEERBRE AKFE -

RITHER

AREERERTERBEFREER
%+ TR 2021 F12 A31 A2 E
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. EETH
Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR T A “* A ()
(¢) Liquidity risk (c) "BHELEARK
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group and the REBRBE SRR - NEE KK
Company monitor and maintain levels of cash and cash NEIERR S KB EEMHIKTE -
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to BEEZNEIEBR AR BAIKE
finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations and NS AEBRARRAINEERT -
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. MRERSRERENZE
The following table details the Group’s and the TRAMAEERARFANEREE
Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial BRTEHREER - R DIREBARE
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the BERARARAENEHABERECBED
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on KRURBEREMGIE - LEME -
the earliest date on which the Group and the Company BEREREEERNBITER - T
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with mEBRTERRIBTHEEER 5
a repayment on demand clause are included in the FIARFREZARAN - A e
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the BB NUEECEERRAE
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity 4 o
dates for other financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.
Liquidity tables REBE TR
Weighted
average
effective Total
interest  Repayable Within 3 months to 1 year to Over undiscounted Carrying
rate ondemand 3 months 1 year 5years 5years  cash flows amount
MEFH BEX 3faR 15 ABRE
ERA% gE 3fEAA BE E5E  BENE  RESE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER FAL TER AL TEL AL TEL
Non-derivative FiiEeRaRE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EHREMERNFE  NATER 16,162 - - - - 16,162 16,162
Bank borrowings BITIEH
— fixed rate —EEH = 240 24971 - - - - 24971 24,971
Bank borrowings BITIEH
— variable rate - FBHE 150 9345 39 243 3620 2,564 15,811 15,101
As at 31 December 2021 R2021E12 4318 50,478 39 243 3,620 2,564 56,944 56,234
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(c)

28. €I A )
ST Ao

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBESRAMRE)
Weighted
average Total
effective ~ Repayable Within undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  on demand 3months  cash flows amount
EFg REX AFBRE
ERF=E HE 3fEAR Ptk REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THL THL THL THL
Non-derivative ETESMARE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 Jx £t fE 7B N/A i £ 7,195 - 7,195 7,195
Bank borrowings BITER
— fixed rate — EER=R 1.36 22,285 - 22,285 22,285
Bank borrowings BITER
— variable rate — FEF= 1.85 10,035 - 10,035 10,035
As at 31 December 2020 742020512 A31H 39,515 - 39,515 39,515

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “repayable on demand” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2021, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings
were HK$34,316,000 (2020: HK$32,320,000).

MBERERKEZRERORITEREE
LB AS T2 [REKEE]
RIEFER A » 72021 F 12 A31H » #%
LIRITE 2 BRE 4858 5 34,316,000
77T (2020 4 : 32,320,000 7T) °

2021 3% / EH B R AR DR
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the
Company believe that such bank borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount
to HK$35,592,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$33,855,000), respectively and set out as below:

. E@BI AW

TR ITEDE@®

(c)

REBESRR (&)

KWERAEER 2R - AARE
FRARIT TR SITEERIS®E
EREESET - AARIEERBZE
RITERGIRERIB R 2 5HEIE
HEHEE - R2021F12 8318 -
ERzAERASBHEERELE SR
35,592,000% 7t (20204 :
33,855,000 7T) * FFIEHFNWAT ¢

Bank borrowings — fixed
SBITRER — BER=E
As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
2021 fF 2020
% %
Weighted average interest rate DN F = 2.40 1.36
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET

Total undiscounted cash flows AMBRE SR

— within 3 months —={EAN 25,084 22,360
Carrying amount BREE 24,971 22,285
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

28.

£RT A%
SRIASE®
© REBESER ()

Bank borrowings — variable
IRITER — FEBR=X

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
% %
Weighted average interest rate I g F = 1.50 1.85
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERx FHETT
Within 3 months 3EARN 261 224
3 months to 1 year EAE1F 910 672
1-5 years 1FE54F 7,173 3,583
Qver 5 years 5F A 8,630 7,016
Total undiscounted cash flows AITRBE L REEEE 16,974 11,495
Carrying amount REE 15,101 10,035

The amounts included above for variable rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change
if changes in variable rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

HZEN R R BB IR HIREE R
MERMGFARE - B EABEEITES
BEENFEREITAZEHRERLE
F o
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 22, certain the Group’s HIBOR bank
borrowings may be subject to the interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and
managing the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

Fair value

The management considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements at the end of each year approximate to their
fair values. Such fair values have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29 RMETEBEENEEHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRALAEEELAEMRETHHAEN
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 28 pEReLIFReEH  @MEED
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EEMBEARAERENESNAEEMNE
which cash flow were, or future cash flows will be, classified in SHeEMERDBERIERKRERER
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows RAKENGERERERDEARMER
from financing activities. FERERENEE -
Dividend Bank
payable borrowings Total
BARE RITER st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET F&IT FHET
As at 1 January 2020 MK 2020F1 A1 H - 10,340 10,340
Financing cash flows BERERE (7,500) 21,410 13,910
Dividend declared EEIRRE 7,500 - 7,500
Finance cost [ 3% - 570 570
As at 31 December 2020 2020412 A31H - 32,320 32,320
Financing cash flows BMARESRE - 6,927 6,927
Finance cost IR IDWIN - 825 825
As at 31 December 2021 72021512 31 H - 40,072 40,072
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE2021F12 A1 BIEFE

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. AR AMBER

COMPANY
2021 2020
2021 F 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FkREBEE
Unlisted investment in subsidiaries R—EBARNIELTIRE 25,284 30,284
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R PNGIE R 19,525 19,285
Prepayments B FIE 38 314
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR MBS 2 72
19,565 19,671
CURRENT LIABILITY REEE
Other payables Hh B 261 201
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 19,304 19,470
NET ASSETS EEFH 44,588 49,754
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#E
Share capital ik 10,000 10,000
Reserves G 34,588 39,754
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY BRERER 44,588 49,754
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12AB1 HIEFE

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. AATMBER @)
COMPANY (Continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows: RAalFEEOZE T
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B RE Hit ks ZitEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FE&T
As at 1 January 2020 20201 A1H 38,444 23,967 (20,102) 42,309
Profit and total comprehensive 4 )% | &2 2 [ U o5 42 48
income for the year - - 4,945 4,945
Dividend ) - (7,500) - (7,500)
As at 31 December 2020 R2020%F 12 A31 H 38,444 16,467 (15,157) 39,754
Loss and total comprehensive £ &1 & % [ 5 S 4248
expenses for the year - - (5,166) (5,166)
As at 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H 38,444 16,467 (20,323) 34,588
At the end of the reporting period, the amount due from a REREHIR - EUCET B A R FRIB T A 7T
subsidiary was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free FHE - EIEA RERBREREE -

and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 A1 BILFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 31.

Particulars of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

MEARFE

RERSHROMBARFBNOT

Equity interest

attributable
Place and date Place of Issued and fully to the Group as at
Name of shareholder of incorporation operation  paid share capital 31 December Principal activity
R AL it B AEER12A318
RRER RAH EEnY  CRORBERXK I PEAL R TEXE
2021 2020
2021F  2020F
% %
Directly owned subsidiary
EERANELR A
Market Gala Limited BVI HongKong  Ordinary share 100 100  Investment holding
10 March 2010 US$1
EERELES B 1 REER
2010F3 4104 E
Magnificent Gala Limited BVI, HongKong  Ordinary share - 100 Investment holdings
(‘Magnificent Gala’) 26 October 2020 US$1
(note below)
Magnificent Gala Limited 5B 5 &5 %@ BERR
(TMagnificent Galal) 2020410 26 A ES
(F3ehis)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE20215F 12 A1 BILEE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Equity interest

31. B ABTFHE @

attributable
Place and date Place of Issued and fully to the Group as at
Name of shareholder of incorporation operation  paid share capital 31 December Principal activity
AEER12A31H
RRE® EXH ERTRARZKRE I PEAL R TEER
2021 2020
2021 5 2020F
% %
Indirectly owned subsidliary
AEEENE R A
Vision Garments Limited HongKong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of apparel products
HK$24,000,000 with the provision of
apparel management
services
HBREKER AT B 31 PR EmIHE R
201053 A17H 24,000,000 % 7T RRREERRS
Vision Worldwide HongKong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of construction
Development Limited HK$1 materials
FALIEBR AR BE LEik HEREMH
202056 A 15H 18T
Vision International Capital HongKong  Ordinary shares - 100 Dormant
Management Limited 2 November 2020 HK$1
(“Vision International
Capital’) (note below)
Vision International Bk EE M ey
Capital Management 2020411 A2A 1471

Limited (I Vision
International Capital J)
(T fse)

Note: During the year, the Company disposed the entire equity interest
in Magnificent Gala with a total consideration of HK$1,530,000,
which acts as an investment holding company and owns the
entire equity interest in Vision International Capital. Vision
International Capital was dormant and did not have any operation

and business since its incorporation.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during

both years and at the end of the reporting period.

BaE : ANFE - AR AR E %58 1,530,000

7T & Magnificent Gala 8 2 3 i # © 3%

NAAKAEERRQAE ¥ A Vion
International Capital #] 2 B i 4% - & st
A7 LAZK -+ Vision International Capital — &
BRZEERRE - WA EERET -

R EFE R RS AR BN B AR #ET

ERERES
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for ~ANEENBER AR REENELE - BFE - A&

the last five financial years is as follows: KRB ERINNOT
RESULTS E4

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 F 2020 F 20194 2018 2017 F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET FET FET FET

Revenue Wz 125,707 92,821 84,686 111,862 71,399
(Loss) profit before tax BRE AT (B8 & A (8,178) 3,211 4,032 15,753 25,192
Income tax expense Frig®if 2 (511) (660) (889) (3,241) (2,727)
(Loss) profit for the year FER(ER)EF (8,689) 2,551 3,143 12,512 22,465
(Loss) profit for the year FN(EE)nf

(excluding Listing expenses (TBELETRY R

and financial guarantee B ISR YA

income) (8,689) 2,551 3,143 15,514 13,032
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE  BERER

As at 31 December
MW128318
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2021 F 2020 4 20194 20184 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FERT T FHIT FHETT FHEIT

Current assets MBNEE 73,931 63,215 41,338 66,738 44,762
Non-current assets EMBNEE 32,336 34,510 36,688 38,740 10,184
Total assets BEBTE 106,267 97,725 78,026 105,478 54,946
Current liabilities mEAaE 51,187 39,617 14,999 22,623 16,706
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 6,223 562 532 503 343
Total liabilities BE4REE 57,410 40,179 15,531 23,126 17,049
Net assets BEFR 48,857 57,546 62,495 82,352 37,897
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to owners AR T A A

of the Company FE(L RS 48,857 57,546 62,495 82,352 37,897

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the year — Mizk : #ZE2017F 12 A31 HIEFENAEEGA EE

ended 31 December 2017 and of the assets, liabilities and equity as at BEARR2017F12 A1 ANEE BERE
31 December 2017 have been extracted from the Prospectus. m R EERER -

The summary above does not form part of the audited financial P ET T ERCE R EREOH B
statements.

168  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2021



	E220898A_Vision 1..2-2022-03-25-17.18.10
	CW08107-AR21
	GEM的特色
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層的履歷詳情
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要




